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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. We make such forward-looking statements pursuant
to the safe harbor provisions of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act, Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and other federal securities
laws. All statements, other than statements of historical fact, contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including statements regarding our strategy, future preclinical
studies and clinical trials, future financial position, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management, are forward-looking statements. The words “anticipate,”
“believe,” “contemplate,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “seek,” “may,” “might,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “target,” “aim,” “should,” ‘will” “would,”
or the negative of these words or other similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these words.
Forward-looking statements reflect our current views with respect to future events and are based on assumptions and subject to risks and uncertainties.
The forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q include, among other things, statements relating to:
●

the potential advantages of our RADR® platform in identifying drug candidates and patient populations that are likely to respond to a drug candidate;

●

our strategic plans to advance the development of any of our drug candidates;

●

our strategic plans to expand the number of data points that our RADR® platform can access and analyze;

●

our research and development efforts of our internal drug discovery programs and the utilization of our RADR® platform to streamline the drug development process;

●

the initiation, timing, progress, and results of our preclinical studies or clinical trials on any of our drug candidates;

●

our intention to leverage artificial intelligence, machine learning and genomic data to streamline the drug development process and to identify patient populations that
would likely respond to a drug candidate;

●

our plans to discover and develop drug candidates and to maximize their commercial potential by advancing such drug candidates ourselves or in collaboration with
others;

●

our expectations regarding our ability to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements with our existing cash and cash equivalents;

●

our ability to secure sufficient funding and alternative source of funding to support our existing and proposed preclinical studies and clinical trials;

●

our estimates regarding the potential market opportunity for our drug candidates we or any of our collaborators may in the future develop;

●

our anticipated growth strategies and our ability to manage the expansion of our business operations effectively;

●

our expectations related to the use of proceeds from our initial public offering, which closed on June 15, 2020;

●

our ability to keep up with rapidly changing technologies and evolving industry standards, including our ability to achieve technological advances;

●

the potential impact the outbreak of COVID-19 may have on our business plans;

●

our ability to source our needs for skilled labor in the fields of artificial intelligence, genomics, biology, oncology and drug development; and

●

the impact of government laws and regulations on the development and commercialization of our drug candidates.
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We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions, or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements, and you should not place undue reliance on our forwardlooking statements. Actual results or events could differ materially from the plans, intentions, and expectations disclosed in the forward-looking statements we make. We have
included important factors in the cautionary statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in the Risk Factors section of the final prospectus, dated June 10,
2020, for our initial public offering, on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and have identified other factors such as the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the
results of our clinical trials, and the impact of competition, that we believe could cause actual results or events to differ materially from the forward-statements that we make.
Furthermore, we operate in a competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all
risks and uncertainties that could have an impact on the forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
You should read this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the documents that we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, with the understanding
that our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect. These forward-looking statements are based on management’s current expectations. These
statements are neither promises nor guarantees, but involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that may cause our actual results, performance
or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Factors that may cause
actual results to differ materially from current expectations include, among other things, those listed elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and those listed under the
Risk Factors section of the final prospectus, dated June 10, 2020, for our initial public offering, on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. You may access our June
10, 2020 final prospectus under the investor SEC filings tab of our website at www.lanternpharma.com or on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. Given these uncertainties, you
should not rely on these forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. The forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are made
as of the date of this Quarterly Report, and we do not assume any obligation to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise, except as required by applicable law.
In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements are based upon information
available to us as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and while we believe such information forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such information may
be limited or incomplete. Our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all potentially available relevant
information. These statements are inherently uncertain and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely upon these statements.
Unless the context requires otherwise, references to the “Company,” “Lantern,” “we,” “us,” and “our” this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q refer to Lantern Pharma Inc., a
Delaware corporation, and, where appropriate, its wholly-owned subsidiary.
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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements.
Lantern Pharma Inc. and Subsidiary
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
September 30,
2020
(Unaudited)
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets

$

Property and equipment, net
Deferred offering costs

December 31,
2019

20,802,542
1,672,802
22,475,344

$

17,608
-

1,232,030
788
1,232,818
8,758
191,000

TOTAL ASSETS

$

22,492,952

$

1,432,576

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses

$

814,557

$

489,292

Total current liabilities

814,557

489,292

PPP loan payable

108,500

-

923,057

489,292

-

244

TOTAL LIABILITIES
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (NOTE 4)
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred Stock - Par Value (1,000,000 authorized at September 30, 2020; 3,480,000 authorized at December 31, 2019; $.0001 par
value) (Zero shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2020; 2,438,866 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2019)
Common Stock – Par Value (25,000,000 authorized at September 30, 2020; 12,180,000 authorized at December 31, 2019; $.0001 par
value) (6,217,577 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2020; 1,978,269 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,
2019)
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit

31,333,164
(9,763,891)

Total stockholders’ equity

21,569,895

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

622

$

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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22,492,952

198
7,694,547
(6,751,705)
943,284
$

1,432,576

Lantern Pharma Inc. and Subsidiary
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2020
2019
Operating expenses:
General and administrative
Research and development
Total operating expenses

1,100,719
600,769
1,701,488

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2020
2019

441,251
228,401
669,652

2,117,290
894,896
3,012,186

977,300
775,718
1,753,018

NET LOSS

$

(1,701,488)

$

(669,652 )

$

(3,012,186)

$

(1,753,018)

Net loss per share of common shares, basic and diluted

$

(0.27)

$

(0.34)

$

(0.82)

$

(0.89)

Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding, basic and diluted

6,217,577

1,978,269

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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3,661,942

1,978,269

Lantern Pharma Inc. and Subsidiary
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) (Unaudited)
Preferred
Stock
Number of
Shares

Balance, December 31, 2018

1,292,952

Preferred stock and warrants issued
Stock-based compensation
Net Loss

$

804,153
-

Balance, March 31, 2019

2,097,105

Stock-based compensation
Net Loss

$

-

Balance, June 30, 2019

2,097,105

Preferred stock and warrants issued
Stock-based compensation
Net Loss

$

341,761
-

Balance, September 30, 2019

2,438,866

Common
Stock
Common
Additional
Number
Stock
Paid-in
Accumulated
of Shares
Amount
Capital
Deficit
Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2019

Preferred
Stock
Amount

$

129

1,978,269

81
-

-

210

1,978,269

-

-

210

1,978,269

34
-

-

244

1,978,269

$

$

$

$

198

$ 4,121,395

$ (4,323,520)

-

2,384,919
15,531
-

(453,973 )

198

$ 6,521,845

$ (4,777,493)

-

6,029
-

(629,393 )

198

$ 6,527,874

$ (5,406,886)

-

1,070,473
32,796
-

(669,652 )

198

$ 7,631,143

$ (6,076,538)

Total
Stockholders’
Equity
(Deficit)

$

(201,798)
2,385,000
15,531
(453,973 )

$

1,744,760
6,029
(629,393 )

$

1,121,396
1,070,507
32,796
(669,652 )

$

1,555,047

$

943,284

Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2020
Balance, December 31, 2019

2,438,866

Common stock issued
Stock-based compensation
Net Loss

$

-

Balance, March 31, 2020

2,438,866

Common stock issued, net of issuance costs
Preferred stock conversion to common stock and fractional
shares adjustments from stock split and conversion
Stock-based compensation
Net Loss

$

(2,438,866)
-

Balance, June 30, 2020

-

Stock-based compensation
Net Loss

-

Balance, September 30, 2020

-

244

1,978,269

-

50,460
-

244

2,028,729

(244)
$

$

198

$ 7,694,547

$ (6,751,705)

5
-

51,995
18,460
-

(477,276 )

203

$ 7,765,002

$ (7,228,981)

1,750,000

175

23,419,546

2,438,848
-

244
-

-

6,217,577

-

-

-

6,217,577

$

$

$

$

(833,422 )

622

$ 31,289,650

$ (8,062,403)

-

43,514
-

(1,701,488)

622

$ 31,333,164

$ (9,763,891)

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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(261)
105,363
-

-

52,000
18,460
(477,276 )
$

536,468
23,419,721
(261)
105,363
(833,422 )

$ 23,227,869
43,514
(1,701,488)
$ 21,569,895

Lantern Pharma Inc. and Subsidiary
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)
Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2020
2019
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock based compensation
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Net cash flows used in operating activities

$

(3,012,186)

$

2,295
167,337

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipment
Net cash flows used in investing activities

(1,753,018)
1,091
54,356

(1,672,014)
431,004
(4,083,564)

(25,950)
304,474
(1,419,047)

(11,145)
(11,145)

(5,717 )
(5,717 )

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of common and preferred stock
Issuance costs
Proceeds from stock option exercise
Borrowings from notes payable
Payments on notes payable
Borrowings on PPP loan payable
Net cash flows provided by financing activities

26,250,000
(2,745,279)
52,000
169,049
(169,049)
108,500
23,665,221

2,920,507
2,920,507

CHANGE IN CASH FOR THE PERIOD

19,570,512

1,495,743

1,232,030

445,163

CASH, BEGINNING OF PERIOD
CASH, END OF PERIOD

$

Non-cash financing activities
Conversion of SAFE agreements to Series A preferred stock
Application of deferred offering costs to initial public offering proceeds

$
$

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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20,802,542

(456,437)

$

1,940,906

$
$

535,000
-

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1. Organization, Principal Activities, and Basis of Presentation
Lantern Pharma Inc., and Subsidiary (the “Company”) is a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company, focused on leveraging artificial intelligence (“A.I.”), machine
learning and genomic data to streamline the drug development process and to identify the patients that will benefit from its targeted oncology therapies. The Company’s
portfolio of therapies consists of small molecule drug candidates that others have tried, but failed, to develop into an approved commercialized drug, as well as new compounds
that it is developing with the assistance of its A.I. platform and its biomarker driven approach. The Company’s A.I. platform, known as RADR ®, uses big data analytics
(combining molecular data, drug efficacy data, data from historical studies, data from scientific literature, phenotypic data from trials and publications, and mechanistic
pathway data) and machine learning. The Company’s data-driven, genomically-targeted and biomarker-driven approach allows it to pursue a transformational drug development
strategy that identifies, rescues or develops, and advances potential small molecule drug candidates.
Lantern Pharma Inc. was incorporated under the laws of the state of Texas on November 7, 2013, and thereafter reincorporated in the state of Delaware on January 15,
2020. The Company’s principal operations are located in Texas. The Company formed a wholly owned subsidiary, Lantern Pharma Limited, in the United Kingdom in July
2017. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Since inception, the Company has devoted substantially all its activity to advancing research and development, including efforts in connection with preclinical studies,
clinical trials and development of its RADR platform. This includes research and development for three drug candidates in development in targeted areas identified with the
assistance of the RADR platform:
●

LP-100 (irofulven), out-licensed to Allarity Therapeutics (formerly known as Oncology Venture), in a phase II trial for the treatment of prostate cancer;

●

LP-300 (Tavocept) in planning stages for phase II trial for the treatment of non-small cell lung cancer; and

●

LP-184 in preclinical studies for treatment of solid tumors including prostate, liver and pancreatic cancers and glioblastoma.

In connection with the Company’s reincorporation in the state of Delaware on January 15, 2020, the par value of the Company’s Common Stock and Series A Preferred
Stock was changed from $0.01 per share to $0.0001 per share. The change in the par value has been retroactively reflected in the accompanying condensed consolidated
financial statements. Additional funds have been reclassified from Common Stock and Series A Preferred Stock to additional paid-in capital to reflect the change in par value
associated with the reincorporation.
The Company’s fiscal year ends on December 31 of each calendar year. The accompanying interim condensed consolidated financial statements are unaudited and have
been prepared on substantially the same basis as the Company’s annual consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019. In the opinion of the
Company’s management, these interim condensed consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) considered
necessary for a fair statement of the Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented. The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated financial statements and the reported
amounts of expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
The December 31, 2019 year-end condensed consolidated balance sheet data in the accompanying interim condensed consolidated financial statements was derived from
audited consolidated financial statements. These condensed consolidated financial statements and notes do not include all disclosures required by U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles and should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019 and the
notes thereto included in the Company’s final prospectus, dated June 10, 2020, for the Company’s initial public offering, on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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The results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods included in these condensed consolidated financial statements are not necessarily indicative of the results
to be expected for any future period or the entire fiscal year.
Any reference in these notes to applicable guidance refers to Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) and Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”). To date, the Company has operated its business as one segment. The Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements include
the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Lantern Pharma Limited. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Effective June 11, 2020, in connection with the Company’s initial public offering (“IPO”), the Company completed a forward stock split of its common stock at a ratio of
1.74 for 1 shares. In addition, all of the Company’s preferred stock converted into common stock effective June 15, 2020 in connection with the IPO. All data on common stock
and equivalents in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements and in these notes are shown herein reflective of this stock split and the conversion of the
preferred stock. In addition, the number of shares of preferred stock in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements and in these notes is presented to reflect
the number of shares into which the preferred stock would convert as a result of the forward stock split.
Note 2. Liquidity
The Company incurred a net loss of $3,012,186 and $1,753,018 during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, respectively. As of
September 30, 2020, the Company had working capital of $21,660,787, primarily as a result of the net proceeds raised in the IPO of approximately $23,420,000 (see Note 5).
The Company had working capital of $743,526 as of December 31, 2019. The Company has received funding in the form of periodic capital raises and also plans to apply for
grant funding in the future to assist in supporting its capital needs. We may also explore the possibility of entering into commercial credit facilities as an additional source of
liquidity. As of December 31, 2019, there was substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in the absence of additional funding. We believe
that our existing cash and cash equivalents as of September 30, 2020, and our anticipated expenditures and capital commitments for the remainder of calendar year 2020 and for
calendar year 2021, will enable us to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements for at least 12 months from the date of this quarterly report.
Note 3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates and Assumptions
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. The significant areas of estimation include determining deferred tax asset valuation allowance and the inputs in determining the fair value of equity-based awards and
warrants issued. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Risks and Uncertainties
The Company operates in an industry that is subject to intense competition, government regulation and rapid technological change. Operations are subject to significant
risk and uncertainties including financial, operational, technological, regulatory, and other risks, including the potential risk of business failure.
The extent of the impact and effects of the coronavirus (COVID-19) on the operation and financial performance of the Company’s business will depend on future
developments, including the duration and spread of the outbreak, related travel advisories and restrictions, the recovery time of disrupted research services, the consequential
staff shortages, and research and development delays, or the uncertainty with respect to the accessibility of additional liquidity or capital markets, all of which are highly
uncertain and cannot be predicted. If the Company’s operations are impacted by this outbreak for an extended period, the Company’s results of operations or liquidity may be
materially adversely affected.
Deferred Offering Costs
In conjunction with the Company’s IPO, costs incurred related to the IPO were capitalized as deferred equity issuance costs in other non-current assets until the time of
completion of the IPO. Upon completion of the IPO, these costs have been offset against proceeds received. Offering costs include direct and incremental costs related to the
offering such as legal fees and related costs associated with the IPO.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company classified deferred offering costs of $456,437 as a reduction to additional paid-in capital upon
completion of the Company’s IPO on June 15, 2020. As of December 31, 2019, the Company recorded deferred offering costs of $191,000 and as of September 30, 2020, there
were no deferred offering costs recorded on the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets.
6

Research and Development
Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. These expenses primarily consist of payroll, contractor expenses, research study expenses, costs for
manufacturing and supplies, and technical infrastructure on the cloud for the purposes of developing the Company’s RADR platform and identifying, developing, and testing
drug candidates. Development costs incurred by third parties are expensed as the work is performed. Costs to acquire technologies, including licenses, that are utilized in
research and development and that have no alternative future use are expensed when incurred.
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets as of September 30, 2020 totaled approximately $1,673,000 and included approximately $357,000 of upfront payments for
contractor and academic research studies and services, approximately $48,000 of licensing and other fees to AF Chemicals, LLC, approximately $6,000 associated with
receivables and undeposited funds, and approximately $1,262,000 of prepaid annual insurance fees.
Loan Pursuant to Paycheck Protection Program
The Company received $108,500 in aggregate loan proceeds (the “PPP Loan”) from JPMorgan Chase Bank (the “Lender”) pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program
under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act. The PPP Loan is evidenced by a loan application and payment agreement (the “PPP Loan
Agreement”) by and between the Company and the Lender. This amount is recorded as a loan payable on the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheet at September
30, 2020.
Note 4: Commitments and Contingencies
BioNumerik Pharmaceuticals.
In January 2018, the Company entered into an Assignment Agreement (the “Assignment Agreement”) with BioNumerik Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“BioNumerik”), pursuant
to which the Company acquired rights to domestic and international patents, trademarks and related technology and data relating to LP-300 (Tavocept) for human therapeutic
treatment indications. The Assignment Agreement replaced a License Agreement that was entered into between the Company and BioNumerik in May 2016. The Company
made upfront payments totaling $25,000 in connection with entry into the Assignment Agreement.
In the event the Company develops and commercializes LP-300 internally, the Company is required to pay to the BioNumerik-related payment recipients designated in
the Assignment Agreement a percentage royalty in the low double digits on cumulative net revenue up to $100 million, with incremental increases in the percentage royalty for
net cumulative revenue between $100 million and $250 million, $250 million and $500 million, and $500 million and $1 billion, with a percentage royalty payment that could
exceed $200 million for net cumulative revenue in excess of $1 billion. The Company has the right to first recover certain designated portions of patent costs and development
and regulatory costs before the payment of royalties described above.
If the Company enters into a third party transaction for LP-300, the Company is required to pay the BioNumerik-related payment recipients a specified percentage of any
upfront, milestone, and royalty amounts received by the Company from the transaction, after first recovering specified direct costs incurred by the Company for the
development of LP-300 that are not otherwise reimbursed from such third party transaction.
In addition, the Assignment Agreement provides that the Company will use commercially diligent efforts to develop LP-300 and make specified regulatory filings and
pay specified development and regulatory costs related to LP-300. The Assignment Agreement also provides that the Company will provide TriviumVet DAC (“TriviumVet”)
with (i) specified data and information generated by the Company with respect to LP-300, and (ii) an exclusive license to use specified LP-300-related patent rights, trademark
rights and related intellectual property to support LP-300 development in non-human (animal) treatment indications.
The Company is also required to pay all patent costs on covered patents related to LP-300. These patent costs are fully recoverable at the time of any net revenue from
LP-300, with up to 50% of net revenue amounts to be applied towards repayment of patent costs until such costs are fully recovered.
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In addition to the recovery of patent costs, the Company has the right to recover the $25,000 upfront payments made in connection with entry into the Assignment
Agreement, which payments are recoverable prior to making any royalty or third party transaction sharing payments. The Company also has the right to recover previously
incurred LP-300 development and regulatory costs, with up to a mid-single digit percentage of net revenue amounts to be applied towards repayment of development and
regulatory costs until such costs are fully recovered.
There is approximately $11,000 payable to BioNumerik as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
AF Chemicals
In January 2015, the Company entered into a Technology License Agreement to exclusively license domestic and international patent rights from AF Chemicals, LLC
(“AF Chemicals”) for the treatment of cancer in humans for the compounds LP-100 (Irofulven) and LP-184. In February 2016, the Company and AF Chemicals entered into an
Addendum providing for additions and amendments to the Technology License Agreement.
Pursuant to the Technology License Agreement and Addendum (collectively, the “AFC License Agreement”) the Company is obligated to make annual licensing fee
payments to AF Chemicals in the amount of $30,000 per year relating to LP-184. The Company paid $0 and $30,000 to AF Chemicals relating to the LP-184 annual fee during
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, $7,500 and $22,500 of which was expensed during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, respectively.
The Company paid $0 and $30,000 to AF Chemicals relating to the LP-184 annual fee during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, $7,500 and $22,500 of
which was expensed during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, respectively. Such amounts are included in research and development expenses in the
accompanying condensed consolidated statements of operations. In addition, the Company is obligated to make milestone payments to AF Chemicals at the time of an
Investigational New Drug Application (“IND”) filing relating to LP-184 and also upon reaching additional specified milestones in connection with the development and
potential marketing approval of LP-184 in the United States, specified countries in Europe, and other countries.
In the event of a sublicense of the LP-184 rights, the Company is obligated to pay AF Chemicals (a) a low double digit percentage of the gross income and fees received
by the Company with respect to the United States in connection with such sublicense, and (b) a lower double digit percentage of the gross income and fees received by the
Company with respect to Europe and Japan in connection with such sublicense.
The AFC License Agreement also provides that the Company will pay AF Chemicals a royalty of at least a very small single digit percentage of specified net sales of LP184 and other analogs. In addition, the AFC License Agreement contains specified time requirements for the Company to file an IND, enroll patients in clinical trials, and file a
potential NDA with respect to LP-184, with the ability for the Company to pay AF Chemicals additional amounts ranging from $25,000 to $50,000 for each one, two, and three
year extension to such development time requirements, with additional extensions beyond three years to be negotiated by the Company and AF Chemicals. During the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company paid AF Chemicals $0 and $50,000, respectively, relating to the IND filing milestone extension fee for LP-184, $12,500
and $37,500 of which were expensed during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, respectively, and included under research and development expenses in the
accompanying condensed consolidated statements of operations. The Company paid AF Chemicals $37,500 during the year ended December 31, 2019 in connection with
extension of the IND filing milestone for LP-184, $37,500 of which was paid during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019. Amounts of $9,375 and $28,125
were expensed during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, respectively, related to this extension payment, and included under research and development
expenses in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of operations. The Company is also obligated to make annual licensing fee payments to AF Chemicals
relating to LP-100 as described below under “Oncology Venture.”
Nothing was accrued or payable to AF Chemicals as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
Allarity Therapeutics (formerly known as Oncology Venture)
In May 2015, the Company licensed various rights to LP-100 to Oncology Venture (now known as Allarity Therapeutics) pursuant to a Drug License and Development
Agreement. In February 2016, the Company and Allarity Therapeutics A/S (“Allarity”) entered into an addendum and an amendment providing for additions and amendments
to the Drug License and Development Agreement. In connection with the Drug License and Development Agreement, as amended (collectively, the “Allarity License and
Development Agreement”), Allarity agreed to directly pay to AF Chemicals on behalf of the Company amounts owed to AF Chemicals with respect to LP-100 under the AFC
License Agreement. Amounts paid by Allarity to AF Chemicals on behalf of the Company are then deducted from amounts owed by Allarity to the Company.
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The amounts owed to AF Chemicals with respect to LP-100 are in many ways similar to the amounts owed with respect to LP-184 as described above under “AF
Chemicals”. In the event any such amounts relating to LP-100 are not paid to AF Chemicals by Allarity, the Company is obligated to pay such unpaid amounts. In addition to
the payments to be made by Allarity, the Company is obligated to make annual licensing fee payments to AF Chemicals in the amount of $30,000 per year relating to LP-100.
The Company paid $0 and $30,000 to AF Chemicals relating to the LP-100 annual fee during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, respectively, $7,500 and
$22,500 of which was expensed during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, respectively. The Company paid $0 and $30,000 to AF Chemicals relating to the
LP-100 annual fee during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, respectively, $7,500 and $22,500 of which was expensed during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2019, respectively. Such amounts are included in research and development expenses in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of
operations. In addition, the AFC License Agreement contains specified time requirements for the Company to file an IND, enroll patients in clinical trials, and file a potential
NDA with respect to LP-100. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company paid AF Chemicals $25,000 relating to a one-year milestone
extension fee for LP-100 commencing in August 2020, approximately $4,000 of which was expensed during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and included
under research and development expenses in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of operations.
There is nothing accrued or payable related to the Allarity License and Development Agreement as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
EU Grant
In September 2018, Lantern Pharma Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Lantern Pharma Inc., was awarded a grant by the UK government in the form of state aid
under the Commission Regulations (EU) No. 651/2014 of 17 June 2014 (the “General Block Exemption”), Article 25 Aid for research and development projects, state aid
notification no. SA.40154. The grant was awarded to conduct research and development activities for the prostate cancer biomarker analysis of the LP-184 drug candidate.
Following the Company’s research and development activities in Northern Ireland, the grant will reimburse the Company 50% of its research and development expenses not
exceeding GBP 24,215 of vouched and approved expenditures within specific categories. The grant contains some reporting and consent requirements. The grant will remain in
force for a period of five years. No payments to the Company have been made under the grant as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019. No revenue has been
recognized from this grant through September 30, 2020.
Patheon API Services
In July 2020, the Company entered into an agreement with Patheon API Services, Inc. (“Patheon”) for the manufacture and supply of cGMP material to support the
Company’s planned Phase II clinical trial for its product candidate LP-300. In addition to producing LP-300 API (active pharmaceutical ingredient) under cGMP (current Good
Manufacturing Practices) conditions, Patheon will transfer previously validated manufacturing processes and analytical methods for LP-300 and will produce non-GMP material
that can be used to support non-clinical studies for LP-300. The agreement provides for payments in stages as specified process and manufacturing milestones are achieved.
Patheon, a part of Thermo Fisher Scientific, has previously developed and/or manufactured more than 700 pharmaceuticals for biopharma clients and has more than 55
locations around the world, providing access to a fully integrated global network of facilities.
The Company paid approximately $194,000 to Patheon during the three months ended September 30, 2020 pursuant to the Patheon agreement. Approximately $78,000
was expensed with respect to the Patheon agreement during the three months ended September 30, 2020, which represents the services received by the Company through
September 30, 2020. This amount is included in research and development expenses in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of operations. Approximately
$116,000 relating to the Patheon agreement is included under prepaid expenses on the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheet for the period ended September 30,
2020. The Company expects to pay additional amounts to Patheon in future periods in accordance with specified process and manufacturing milestones under the Patheon
agreement.
9

Southwest Research Institute
As part of the Company’s research and development activities, the Company has engaged Southwest Research Institute (“SwRI”) from time to time to assist with
compound synthesis and manufacturing related activities for the Company’s product candidates. Approximately $4,000 and $21,000 was expensed with respect to SwRI during
the three months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, respectively, and approximately $5,000 and $221,000 was expensed with respect to SwRI during the nine
months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, respectively. All of such expensed amounts are included in research and development expenses in the
accompanying condensed consolidated statements of operations. Approximately $99,000 was payable to SwRI as of September 30, 2020, and approximately $21,000 was
payable to SwRI as of September 30, 2019. In September 2020, the Company entered into an agreement with SwRI for the non-GMP synthesis of LP-184 material and related
analytical development to assist with preclinical studies. Approximately $97,000 relating to the SwRI agreement is included under prepaid expenses on the Company’s
condensed consolidated balance sheet for the period ended September 30, 2020. There were no prepaid expenses relating to SwRI as of December 31, 2019. The Company
expects to pay additional amounts to SwRI in future periods as synthesis and analytical work is conducted by SwRI under the agreement.
The Research Institute of Fox Chase Cancer Center
In September 2020, the Company entered into a research agreement with the Research Institute of Fox Chase Cancer Center (“FCCC”) as part of the Company’s
research and development activities, with a focus on advancing the targeted use of LP-184 in molecularly-defined sub-types of pancreatic cancer.Approximately $6,000 was
expensed with respect to the FCCC agreement during the three months ended September 30, 2020, which amount is included in research and development expenses in the
accompanying condensed consolidated statements of operations. As of September 30, 2020, approximately $71,000 was payable to FCCC. Approximately $65,000 relating to
the FCCC agreement is included under other current assets on the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2020. The Company expects to pay
additional amounts to FCCC in future periods in accordance with the payment schedule specified under the FCCC agreement.
Other Research and Service Provider Agreements
In addition to the agreements described above, the Company has entered into other research and service provider agreements for the advancement of its product
candidates and research and development efforts. The Company expects to pay additional amounts in future periods in connection with existing and future research and service
provider agreements.
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Operating Lease
The Company leased office space in Dallas, Texas under month-to-month lease arrangements during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and the year ended
December 31, 2019. In connection with the Company’s employees working remotely due to COVID-19, the Company in August 2020 reduced its monthly lease commitment
and costs to minimal levels. The Company is continuing to monitor the COVID-19 conditions and intends to increase its lease of office space following an improvement in the
COVID-19 situation.
In August 2019, the Company entered into a leasing agreement for office space in New Jersey. Monthly rent was $2,106, plus electrical utilities. The lease expired on July
31, 2020 and was not renewed.
Note 5. Shareholders’ Equity
Preferred Stock
In March 2019, the Company sold 590,643 shares of Series A preferred stock for aggregate proceeds of approximately $1,850,000. The Company also issued 213,510
shares of Series A preferred stock in March 2019, in connection with the conversion of the Simple Agreement for Future Equity (SAFE) agreements. See Note 6. In connection
with the sale and issuance of the Series A preferred stock in March 2019, the Company issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of 96,499 shares of Series A preferred stock at
an initial exercise price of $3.13 per share.
In July 2019, the Company sold 341,761 shares of Series A preferred stock for aggregate proceeds of approximately $1,070,000. In connection with the issuance of the
Series A preferred stock, the Company issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of 41,015 shares of Series A preferred stock at an initial exercise price of $3.13 per share.
As of December 31, 2019, the Company had 3,480,000 authorized shares of preferred stock, of which 2,438,866 shares designated as Series A Preferred Stock were
issued and outstanding. The holders of Series A Preferred Stock were entitled to receive dividends when, as and if declared by the Company’s Board of Directors, payable in
preference and priority to any declaration or payment of dividends on Common Stock.
Effective January 15, 2020, as a result of the reincorporation in the state of Delaware, the par value of the Company’s preferred stock was changed from $0.01 to $0.0001
per share, and all data on preferred stock was retroactively adjusted to be shown herein as reflective of this change
Upon the Company’s IPO, all shares of the Company’s Series A preferred stock were converted into 2,438,851 shares of common stock effective June 15, 2020, with
fractional share adjustments made in connection with the conversion as discussed below. As of September 30, 2020, the Company had 1,000,000 authorized shares of preferred
stock, with zero shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding.
Common Stock
On June 15, 2020, the Company received net proceeds of $23,419,721 in its IPO, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $1,968,750 and other
offering expenses of $861,529 borne by the Company. The Company issued and sold 1,750,000 shares of common stock in its IPO at a price of $15.00 per share. In connection
with the IPO, all shares of the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock were converted into 2,438,851 shares of common stock, after giving effect to the 1.74 for 1 forward stock
split of the common stock and net of the fractional shares adjustments that occurred in connection with the IPO.
The Company made payments of approximately $261 in the aggregate in connection with fractional shares resulting from the stock split and the conversion of the
preferred stock that took place in connection with the IPO.
During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company issued zero and 50,460 shares of common stock, respectively, relating to the exercise of stock
options. The shares were issued at a purchase price of $1.03 for total proceeds of $52,000.
As of September 30, 2020, the Company had 25,000,000 authorized shares of Common Stock, of which 6,217,577 shares were issued and outstanding. As of December
31, 2019, the Company had 12,180,000 authorized shares of Common Stock, of which 1,978,269 shares were issued and outstanding.
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Warrants
The Company had warrants to purchase 332,014 shares of common stock outstanding and exercisable as of September 30, 2020 at a weighted average exercise price of
$6.42 per share. The Company had warrants to purchase 273,900 shares of Series A Preferred Stock outstanding and exercisable as of September 30, 2019 at a weighted
average exercise price of $3.13 per share.
In connection with the IPO and the conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock into common stock, all outstanding warrants to purchase Series A Preferred Stock
converted into warrants to purchase common stock.
In connection with the IPO, the Company granted the underwriters warrants (the “Underwriters’ Warrants”) to purchase an aggregate of 70,000 shares of common stock
at an exercise price of $18.75 per share, which is 125% of the initial public offering price. The Underwriters’ Warrants have a five-year term and are not exercisable prior to
December 7, 2020. All of the Underwriters’ Warrants were outstanding at September 30, 2020.
In connection with the Series A Preferred Stock financing transactions discussed above, during the nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company issued warrants
to purchase an aggregate of 137,514 shares of Series A Preferred Stock.
Options
The Company recorded stock-based compensation of approximately $167,000 and $54,000 related to stock options during the nine months ended September 30, 2020
and 2019, respectively, and approximately $43,000 and $32,000 of stock-based compensation during the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. These
amounts are included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying condensed consolidated statements of operations.
A summary of stock option activity under the Lantern Pharma Inc. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (the “Plan”) during the nine months ended
September 30, 2020 is presented below:
Options Outstanding
WeightedAverage
Number of
Exercise Price
Shares
Per Share
607,491 $
1.03
306,743
15.00
(50,460)
1.03
(43,166)
1.03
820,608 $
6.25

Outstanding December 31, 2019
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled or expired
Outstanding September 30, 2020
Options were exercisable for 515,695 shares of Common Stock at September 30, 2020.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2019, options to purchase 1,342 shares of Common Stock were granted, no options were exercised, and no options expired
or were canceled.
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Note 6. SAFE Agreements
In December 2018, the Company entered into SAFE agreements (the “SAFE Financing”) with five investors pursuant to which the Company received funding of
$535,000 in exchange for agreement to issue the investors shares of preferred stock upon occurrence of a subsequent financing of preferred stock.
The number of shares to be received by the SAFE agreement investors was based on 80% of the pricing in the triggering equity financing. In a liquidity or dissolution
event, the investors’ right to receive cash out was junior to payment of outstanding indebtedness and creditor claims, on par for other SAFEs and preferred stock, and senior to
common stock. The SAFE agreements had no interest rate or maturity date, and the SAFE investors had no voting right prior to conversion.
The SAFE agreements were converted to equity in March 2019 and the Company issued 213,510 shares of Series A Preferred Stock in full satisfaction of these
agreements.
Note 7. Notes and Loan Payable
In January 2020, the Company entered into a financing arrangement for commercial insurance with First Insurance Funding. The total amount financed was approximately
$66,000 with an annual interest rate of 6.64%, to be paid over a period of ten months. In June 2020, the insurance policy was canceled, and the remaining loan balance was
repaid. As of September 30, 2020, there is no remaining loan balance on the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheet related to the First Insurance financing
arrangement.
On May 1, 2020 (the “Origination Date”), the Company received $108,500 in aggregate loan proceeds (the “PPP Loan”) from JPMorgan Chase Bank (the “Lender”)
pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act. The PPP Loan is evidenced by a loan application and
payment agreement (the “PPP Loan Agreement”) by and between the Company and the Lender. Subject to the terms of the PPP Loan Agreement, the PPP Loan bears interest at
a fixed rate of one percent (1.0%) per annum. Payments of principal and interest are deferred for the first six months following the Origination Date, and the PPP Loan will
mature two years after the Origination Date. The guidance under the Paycheck Protection Program was later updated so that payments of principal and interest were extended
past the current fiscal year and maturity was extended past two years. The Company is tracking further development and guidance related to the Paycheck Protection Program
terms.
Following the deferral period, unless the loan is forgiven, the Company will be required to make payments of principal plus interest accrued under the PPP Loan to the
Lender in monthly installments based upon an amortization schedule to be determined by the Lender based on the principal balance of the PPP Loan outstanding following the
deferral period and taking into consideration any portion of the PPP Loan that may be forgiven prior to that time. The PPP Loan is unsecured and guaranteed by the U.S. Small
Business Administration.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company received approximately $103,000 in funding resulting from a loan that was funded incorrectly. All of
the funds from the loan were repaid by the Company in July 2020, and no loan funds were expended prior to the repayment. There are no amounts outstanding under this loan
as of September 30, 2020.
Note 8. Related Party Transactions
The Company has from time to time obtained preclinical services from Biological Mimetics, Inc., which is also a stockholder in the Company. The Company recorded
expenses of approximately $11,000 and $23,000 related to Biological Mimetics, Inc. during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, all of which is included in
research and development. No expenses related to Biological Mimetics, Inc. were recorded during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020. Approximately $2,000
was owed to Biological Mimetics, Inc. at December 31, 2019, all of which is included in accounts payable and accrued expenses in the accompanying condensed consolidated
balance sheet. Nothing was owed to Biological Mimetics, Inc. at September 30, 2020.
The Company has previously engaged Intuition Systems (“Intuition”) to provide services relating to development of the Company’s technology infrastructure and
artificial intelligence platform, cloud computing, and computational biology. The chief executive officer of Intuition is the brother of Arun Asaithambi, the Company’s former
Chief Executive Officer, President and Director. No expenses were recorded related to Intuition Systems during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 or during
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019. At both September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, approximately $9,000 remained unpaid relating to Intuition and is
included in accounts payable and accrued expenses in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet.
In January 2018, the Company entered into an Assignment Agreement (the “Assignment Agreement”) with BioNumerik Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“BioNumerik”), pursuant
to which the Company acquired rights to domestic and international patents, trademarks and related technology and data relating to LP-300 for human therapeutic treatment
indications. Mr. Margrave, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer and Secretary, formerly served as the President, Chief Administrative Officer, General Counsel and Secretary
of BioNumerik and has a minority ownership interest in BioNumerik. The Company recorded no expense related to BioNumerik during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019. Amounts payable to BioNumerik as of both September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 totaled approximately $11,000.
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Note 9. Loss Per Share of Common Shares
Basic loss per share is derived by dividing net loss applicable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during
each period. Diluted loss per share includes the effect, if any, from the potential exercise or conversion of securities, such as warrants and stock options, which would result in
the issuance of incremental shares of common stock unless such effect is anti-dilutive. In calculating the basic and diluted net loss per share applicable to common stockholders,
the weighted average number of shares remained the same for both calculations due to the fact that when a net loss exists, dilutive shares are not included in the calculation.
Potentially dilutive securities outstanding that have been excluded from diluted loss per share due to being anti-dilutive include the following:
Outstanding at
September 30,
2020
2019
332,014
273,900
820,608
630,402
2,438,866
1,152,622
3,343,168

Warrants to purchase Common Stock
Warrants to purchase Series A Preferred stock
Stock options
Series A preferred stock
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and plan of operations together with our condensed consolidated financial statements and the
related notes appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report. In addition to historical information, this discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve
risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results may differ materially from those discussed below. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include,
but are not limited to, those identified below, and those factors discussed in the Risk Factors section of the final prospectus, dated June 10, 2020, for our initial public offering,
on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Overview
We are a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company, focused on leveraging artificial intelligence (“A.I.”), machine learning and genomic data to streamline the drug
development process and to identify the patients that will benefit from our targeted oncology therapies. Our portfolio of therapies consists of small molecules that others have
tried, but failed, to develop into an approved commercialized drug, as well as new compounds that we are developing with the assistance of our A.I. platform and our biomarker
driven approach. Our A.I. platform, known as RADR ®, currently includes more than one billion data points, and uses big data analytics (combining molecular data, drug
efficacy data, data from historical studies, data from scientific literature, phenotypic data from trials and publications, and mechanistic pathway data) and machine learning to
rapidly uncover biologically relevant genomic signatures correlated to drug response, and then identify the cancer patients that we believe may benefit most from our
compounds. This data-driven, genomically-targeted and biomarker-driven approach allows us to pursue a transformational drug development strategy that identifies, rescues or
develops, and advances potential small molecule drug candidates at what we believe is a fraction of the time and cost associated with traditional cancer drug development.
Our strategy is to both develop new drug candidates using our RADR® platform, and other machine learning driven methodologies, and to pursue the development of drug
candidates that have undergone previous clinical trial testing or that may have been halted in development or deprioritized because of insufficient clinical trial efficacy (i.e., a
meaningful treatment benefit relevant for the disease or condition under study as measured against the comparator treatment used in the relevant clinical testing) or for strategic
reasons by the owner or development team responsible for the compound. Importantly, these historical drug candidates appear to have been well-tolerated in many instances,
and often have considerable data from previous toxicity, tolerability and ADME (absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion) studies that have been completed.
Additionally, these drug candidates may also have a body of existing data supporting the potential mechanism(s) by which they achieve their intended biologic effect, but often
require more targeted trials in a stratified group of patients to demonstrate statistically meaningful results. Our dual approach to both develop de-novo, biomarker-guided drug
candidates and “rescue” historical drug-candidates by leveraging A.I., recent advances in genomics, computational biology and cloud computing is emblematic of a new era in
drug development that is being driven by data-intensive approaches meant to de-risk development and accelerate the clinical trial process. In this context, we intend to create a
diverse portfolio of oncology drug candidates for further development towards regulatory and marketing approval with the objective of establishing a leading A.I.-driven,
methodology for treating the right patient with the right oncology therapy.
A key component of our strategy is to target specific cancer patient populations and treatment indications identified by leveraging our RADR® platform, a proprietary A.I.
enabled engine created and owned by us. We believe the combination of our therapeutic area expertise, our A.I. expertise, and our ability to identify and develop promising drug
candidates through our collaborative relationships with research institutions in selected areas of oncology gives us a significant competitive advantage. Our RADR® platform
was developed and refined over the last four years and integrates millions of data points immediately relevant for oncology drug development and patient response prediction
using artificial intelligence and proprietary machine learning algorithms. By identifying clinical candidates, together with relevant genomic and phenotypic data, we believe our
approach will help us design more efficient pre-clinical studies, and more targeted clinical trials, thereby accelerating our drug candidates’ time to approval and eventually to
market. Although we have not yet applied for or received regulatory or marketing approval for any of our drug candidates, we believe our RADR ® platform has the ability to
reduce the cost and time to bring drug candidates to specifically targeted patient groups. We believe we have developed a sustainable and scalable biopharma business model by
combining a unique, oncology-focused big-data platform that leverages artificial intelligence along with active clinical and preclinical programs that are being advanced in
targeted cancer therapeutic areas to address today’s treatment needs.
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Our current portfolio consists of three active compounds in development: two drug candidates in clinical phases and, one in preclinical studies. All of these drug
candidates are leveraging precision oncology, A.I. and genomic driven approaches to accelerate and direct development efforts. We currently have two drug candidates in
clinical development, LP-100 and LP-300, where we are leveraging data from prior preclinical studies and clinical trials, along with insights generated from our A.I. platform,
to target the types of tumors and patient groups that would be most responsive to the drug. Both LP-100 and LP-300 showed promise in prior clinical testing, but failed pivotal
Phase III trials where the overall results did not meet the required clinical endpoints due to what we believe was a lack of patient stratification driven by an inability to develop
biomarker-driven, precision oncology trials. Additionally, we have one new drug candidate, LP-184, in preclinical development for two potentially distinct indications where we
are leveraging machine learning and genomic data to streamline the drug development process and to identify the patients and cancer subtypes that will best benefit from the
drug, if approved.
Our development strategy is to pursue an increasing number of oncology focused, molecularly targeted therapies where artificial intelligence and genomic data can help
us provide biological insights, reduce the risk associated with development efforts and help clarify potential patient response. We plan on strategically evaluating these on a
program-by-program basis as they advance into clinical development, either to be done entirely by us or with out-licensing partners to maximize the commercial opportunity
and reduce the time it takes to bring the right drug to the right patient.
To date, except for a prior research grant, we have not generated any revenue, we have incurred net losses and our operations have been financed primarily by sales of our
equity securities. Our net losses were $1,701,488 and $669,652 for the three months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, respectively. Our net losses for the
nine months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019 were $3,012,186 and $1,753,018, respectively.
Our net losses have primarily resulted from costs incurred in licensing and developing the drug candidates in our pipeline, planning, preparing and conducting preclinical
studies, early stage clinical testing and general and administrative activities associated with our operations. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and
corresponding increased operating losses for the foreseeable future as we continue to develop our pipeline. Our costs may further increase as we conduct preclinical studies and
clinical trials and potentially seek regulatory clearance for and prepare to commercialize our drug candidates. We expect to incur significant expenses to continue to build the
infrastructure necessary to support our expanded operations, preclinical studies, clinical trials, commercialization, including manufacturing, marketing, sales and distribution
functions. We have experienced and will continue to experience increased costs associated with operating as a public company.
Our operations, including the development of our drug candidates, could be disrupted and materially adversely affected in the future by a pandemic, epidemic or outbreak
of an infectious disease like the recent outbreak of COVID-19. For example, as a result of measures imposed by the governments in regions affected by COVID-19 businesses
and schools have been suspended due to quarantines or “stay at home” orders intended to contain this outbreak. The spread of COVID-19 from China to other countries has
resulted in the Director General of the World Health Organization declaring the outbreak of COVID-19 as a Public Health Emergency of International Concern (PHEIC), based
on the advice of the Emergency Committee under the International Health Regulations (2005), and on March 12, 2020, the President of the United States imposed international
travel restrictions between the U.S. and Europe to supplement the existing international travel restrictions between the US and certain Asian countries and on March 13, 2020,
declared a national emergency in response to the likely spread of COVID-19. COVID-19 continues to spread globally and, as of September 30, 2020, has spread to over 150
countries, including the United States. U.S. and international stock markets continue to experience fluctuations and to be impacted from time to time by uncertainty associated
with the impact of COVID-19 on the U.S., Chinese, European and other economies and the reduced levels of international travel experienced since early 2020. The Dow
Industrial Average and other domestic and international stock indices have experienced substantial fluctuations during 2020 largely attributed to assessments and expectations
regarding the adverse effects of the pandemic on the world’s economies. We are continuing to assess our business plans and the impact COVID-19 may have on our operations
and plans, including the ability to advance the development of our drug candidates, but no assurances can be given that this analysis will enable us to avoid part or all of any
impact from the spread of COVID-19 or its consequences, including downturns in business sentiment generally or in our sector in particular. The extent to which COVID-19
impacts our operations and plans will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, including the duration of the
outbreak, new information which may emerge concerning the severity and treatment of COVID-19, and preventative or protective actions that governments, businesses, and
organizations performing research and clinical trials may take in respect of COVID-19, among others. The existence and spread of an infectious disease, including COVID-19,
may also result in the inability of our suppliers to deliver components or raw materials on a timely basis or materially and adversely affect our collaborators and out-license
partner’s ability to perform and advance preclinical and nonclinical studies and clinical trials. For example, Allarity Therapeutics (formerly known as Oncology Venture) has
informed us that continuing enrollment in the Phase II clinical trial for LP-100 (Irofulven) has slowed during the pandemic. The timing of non-clinical research studies for our
drug candidates by collaborators and service providers also slowed during the second and third quarters of 2020 in connection with the pandemic.
16

Components of Our Results of Operations
Revenues
We did not recognize revenues for any of the three or nine month periods ended September 30, 2020 and 2019.
General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses consist of our operating expenses that are not included in the direct costs of production or cost of goods sold which include:
●

corporate office overhead expenses such as salaries of administrative staff and corporate officers;

●

legal expenses;

●

accounting expenses; and

●

insurance, rent, utilities and supplies.

Research and Development
Research and development expenses consist primarily of costs incurred for the research and development of our preclinical and clinical candidates, which include:
●

expenses incurred towards consultants, laboratories and investigators that conduct our preclinical or clinical research activities; and

●

the cost of acquiring and developing preclinical study materials and lab supplies.

We expense research and development costs to operations as incurred.
Our research and development costs by project category for the three months ended September 30, 2020 are as follows:
Three Months
Ended
September 30,
2020
$
149,028
248,083
141,267
62,391
$
600,769

LP-300
LP-184
RADR® Platform
Other
Total research and development expenses

As a private company, we did not track our research and development costs by project category primarily because research and development salary expenses were not
further allocated to each project. As a result, our tracking of research and development costs by project category commenced in the second calendar quarter of 2020 in
connection with the Company’s IPO.
We expect that our research and development expenses will continue to increase as we progress toward our commencement of clinical trials of LP-300 and LP-184. We
expect this increase to include additional expenses associated with research and service provider agreements for the advancement of our drug candidates and research and
development efforts.
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Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with product development, we cannot determine with certainty the duration and completion costs of these or
other current or future clinical trials of LP-184 and LP-300 or our other therapeutic candidates. We may never succeed in achieving regulatory approval for LP-184 and LP-300
or any of our other drug candidates. The duration, costs and timing of clinical trials and development of our therapeutic candidates will depend on a variety of factors, including
the uncertainties of future clinical and preclinical studies, uncertainties in clinical trial enrollment rate and significant and changing government regulation. In addition, the
probability of success for each drug candidate will depend on numerous factors, including competition, manufacturing capability and commercial viability.
General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related costs for employees in executive, finance and administration, corporate development and
administrative support functions, including stock-based compensation expenses and benefits. Other significant general and administrative expenses include accounting and legal
services, insurance, the cost of various consultants, occupancy costs and information systems costs.
Our general and administrative expenses have increased upon our becoming a public company and we expect this increase to continue. We also expect increased
administrative costs resulting from our anticipated clinical trials and the potential commercialization of our drug candidates. We believe that these increases in our general and
administrative expenses will include increased costs for director and officer liability insurance, hiring additional personnel to support future market research and future product
commercialization efforts and increased fees for outside consultants, attorneys and accountants. We also expect to incur increased costs to comply with corporate governance,
internal controls, investor relations and disclosures and similar requirements applicable to a public company.
Summary Results of Operations for the Three Months and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 (unaudited)
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2020
2019
Operating expenses
General and administrative
Research and development
Total expenses
Net loss

$

$

1,100,719
600,769
1,701,488
(1,701,488)

Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2020 and 2019
Revenues
To date, except for a prior research grant, we have not generated any revenue since our inception.
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$

$

441,251
228,401
669,652
(669,652 )

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2020
2019

$

$

2,117,290
894,896
3,012,186
(3,012,186)

$

$

977,300
775,718
1,753,018
(1,753,018)

General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses increased $659,468 or 149%, from $441,251 for the three months ended September 30, 2019 to $1,100,719 for the three months
ended September 30, 2020. The increase was primarily attributable to increases in labor expense of approximately $177,000, increases in business development expense of
approximately $72,000, and corporate insurance expense increases of approximately $451,000. This was partially offset by a decrease in travel and relocation expense of
approximately $45,000.
Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses increased $372,368, or 163%, from $228,401 for the three months ended September 30, 2019 to $600,769 for the three months ended
September 30, 2020. The increase was primarily attributable to increases in research study expenses of approximately $85,000, increases in product candidate manufacturing
related expenses of approximately $74,000, and an increase in research and development employee associated expenses of approximately $206,000. Expenses for annual
licensing fees and development milestone extension payments did not change substantially for the three months ended September 30, 2020 as compared to the three months
ended September 30, 2019.
Comparison of the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2020 and 2019
Revenues
To date, except for a prior research grant, we have not generated any revenue since our inception.
General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses increased $1,139,990 or 117%, from $977,300 for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 to $2,117,290 for the nine months
ended September 30, 2020. The increase was primarily attributable to increases in labor expense of approximately $340,000, increases in Nasdaq and other filing fees of
approximately $61,000, business development expense increases of approximately $71,000, corporate insurance expense increases of approximately $604,000, and stock option
compensation expense increases of approximately $113,000. This was partially offset by a decrease in travel and relocation expense of approximately $103,000.
Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses increased $119,178, or 15%, from $775,718 for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 to $894,896 for the nine months ended
September 30, 2020. The increase was primarily attributable to increases in research study expenses of approximately $21,000, increases in non-manufacturing related
consulting expenses of approximately $62,000, increases in research and development employee associated expenses of approximately $159,000, and increases in annual
licensing fees and development milestone extension payments of approximately $14,000. These increases were offset in part by reductions in product candidate manufacturing
related expenses of approximately $136,000 reflecting completion of process development and scale-up studies conducted in the prior year period.
On September 3, 2018 Lantern Pharma Limited, our wholly owned subsidiary, was awarded a grant by the UK government in the form of state aid under the Commission
Regulations (EU) No. 651/2014 of 17 June 2014 (the “General Block Exemption”), Article 25 Aid for research and development projects, state aid notification no. SA.40154.
The grant was awarded to conduct research and development activities for the prostate cancer biomarker analysis of our LP-184 drug candidate. Following our research and
development activities in Northern Ireland, the grant will reimburse 50% of our research and development expenses not exceeding GBP 24,215 of vouched and approved
expenditures within specific categories and will remain in force for a period of five years. No revenue has been recognized from this grant through September 30, 2020.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
We incurred net losses of $3,012,186 and $1,753,018 for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, respectively. As of September 30, 2020,
we had working capital of approximately $21,661,000 and as of December 31, 2019 we had working capital of approximately $744,000.
On June 10, 2020, our registration statement on Form S-1 relating to our IPO was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The IPO
closed on June 15, 2020, and we issued and sold 1,750,000 shares of common stock at a public offering price of $15.00 per share. Gross proceeds totaled $26,250,000 and net
proceeds totaled $23,419,721 after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $1,968,750 and other offering expenses of $861,529.
On May 1, 2020 (the “Origination Date”), we received $108,500 in aggregate loan proceeds (the “PPP Loan”) from JPMorgan Chase Bank (the “Lender”) pursuant to the
Paycheck Protection Program under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act. As of September 30, 2020, we expect to meet the requirements of loan
forgiveness under the stipulations of the program. In the event we do not meet the requirements of loan forgiveness, the PPP Loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 1.0% per
annum. Payments of principal and interest are deferred for the first six months following the Origination Date, and the PPP Loan will mature two years after the Origination
Date. Following the deferral period, we will be required to make payments of principal plus interest accrued under the PPP Loan to the Lender in monthly installments based
upon an amortization schedule to be determined by the Lender based on the principal balance of the PPP Loan outstanding following the deferral period and taking into
consideration any portion of the PPP Loan that may be forgiven prior to that time.
We have not yet generated any revenues from operations, other than revenues from a research grant, and we have not yet achieved profitability. We expect that general
and administrative expenses and our research and development expenses will continue to increase and, as a result, we will need to generate significant product revenues to
achieve profitability. We may never achieve profitability.
Sources of Liquidity
Since our inception, our operations have been financed primarily through the sale of equity securities, and, to a much lesser extent, funds received by us from the PPP
Loan and a 2017 grant from the Massachusetts Life Sciences Center. We plan to apply for grant funding in the future to assist in supporting our capital needs. We may also
explore the possibility of entering into commercial credit facilities as an additional source of liquidity.
As of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $20,803,000 and $1,232,000, respectively. We believe that our
existing cash and cash equivalents as of September 30, 2020, and our anticipated expenditures and capital commitments for the remainder of calendar year 2020 and for
calendar year 2021, will enable us to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements for at least 12 months from the date of this Quarterly Report.
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Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our cash flow for the periods indicated:

Net cash flows used in operating activities
Net cash flows used in investing activities
Net cash flows provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

$
$

For the Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2020
2019
(Unaudited)
(4,083,564) $
(1,419,047)
(11,145)
(5,717)
23,665,221
2,920,507
19,570,512 $
1,495,743

Operating Activities
For the nine months ended September 30, 2020, net cash used in operating activities was $4,083,564 compared to $1,419,047 for the nine months ended September 30,
2019. The increase in net cash used in operating activities was primarily the result of the increase in the net loss together with increases in prepaid expenses.
Investing Activities
For the nine months ended September 30, 2020, net cash used in investing activities was $11,145 compared to $5,717 used in investing activities during the nine months
ended September 30, 2019.
Financing Activities
Net cash provided by financing activities was $23,665,221 during the nine months ended September 30, 2020, attributable primarily to net proceeds from our initial
public offering. Net cash provided by financing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2019 was $2,920,507.
Operating Capital and Capital Expenditure Requirements
We expect to continue to incur significant and increasing operating losses at least for the next several years as we commence our clinical trials of LP-300 and LP-184,
pursue development of our other drug candidates, and seek potential future marketing approval for our drug candidates which could be several years in the future, if at all. We
do not expect to generate revenue, other than possible license revenue, unless and until we successfully complete development and obtain regulatory approval for our
therapeutic candidates. Our net losses may fluctuate significantly from quarter-to-quarter and year-to-year, depending on the timing of our planned clinical trials and our
expenditures on other research and development activities.
We have based our projections of operating capital requirements on assumptions that may prove to be incorrect and we may use all of our available capital resources
sooner than we expect. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with research, development and commercialization of pharmaceutical products, we are
unable to estimate the exact amount of our operating capital requirements. We anticipate that our expenses will increase substantially as we:
●

continue the development of our drug candidates;

●

initiate preclinical studies and clinical trials for any additional indications for our current drug candidates and any future drug candidates that we may pursue;

●

continue to build our portfolio of drug candidates through the acquisition or in-license of additional drug candidates or technologies;

●

continue to develop, maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;

●

continue to develop, maintain, and expand our RADR® platform;

●

pursue regulatory approvals for those of our current and future drug candidates that successfully complete clinical trials;

●

ultimately establish a sales, marketing, distribution and other commercial infrastructure to commercialize any drug candidate for which we may obtain marketing
approval;

●

hire additional clinical, regulatory, scientific and accounting personnel; and

●

incur additional legal, accounting and other expenses in operating as a public company.
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We expect that we will need to obtain substantial additional funding in order to complete our clinical trials. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale
of common stock, convertible securities or other equity securities, the ownership interests of our existing stockholders may be materially diluted and the terms of these
securities could include liquidation or other preferences that could adversely affect the rights of our existing stockholders. In addition, debt financing, if available, would result
in increased fixed payment obligations and may involve agreements that include restrictive covenants that limit our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional
debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends, that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or on
attractive terms, we could be forced to significantly delay, scale back or discontinue the development or commercialization of LP-184 and LP-300 and/or other drug candidates,
seek collaborators at an earlier stage than otherwise would be desirable or on terms that are less favorable than might otherwise be available, and relinquish or license,
potentially on unfavorable terms, our rights to LP-184 and LP-300 or other drug candidates that we otherwise would seek to develop or commercialize ourselves.
Contractual Obligations
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We did not have during the periods presented, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet arrangements as defined under SEC rules.
Critical Accounting Policies
We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting standards in the United States of America. Our significant accounting
policies are described in Note 3 to our condensed consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report. We believe the following critical accounting
policies involve the most significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of the condensed consolidated financial statements.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Significant areas of estimation include determining the deferred tax asset valuation allowance and the
inputs in determining the fair value of equity-based awards and warrants issued. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
Research and Development
Research and development expenses are expensed as incurred. Costs to acquire technologies, including licenses, that are utilized in research and development and that
have no alternative future use are expensed when incurred.
Stock-based Compensation
We have granted stock options to our employees under the Lantern Pharma Inc. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (the “Plan”). Stock-based
compensation expense from awards granted under the Plan is allocated over the required service period over which those stock option awards vest.
The stock option awards are valued at fair value on the date of grant and that fair value is recognized over the requisite service period. The estimated fair value of stock
option awards was determined using the Black Scholes option pricing model on the date of grant. Some of these grants occurred at a time when we were not a public company.
Significant judgment and estimates were used to estimate the fair value of these awards, as they occurred when our stock was not publicly traded.
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Our estimation of fair value of the awards made prior to the time we became a public company considered our recent transactions, relevant industry and comparable
public company data. Since, at the time of the grants, we were a non-public entity, the majority of the inputs used to estimate the fair value of the common stock option awards
are considered level 3 due to their unobservable nature. Each option award is subject to specified vesting schedules and requirements. Compensation expense is charged to us
over the required service period to earn the award which is expected to be up to four years, subject to the achievement of time and event-based vesting requirements. For the
three months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, we incurred share-based compensation expense related to equity awards totaling approximately $43,000 and
$32,000, respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, we incurred share-based compensation expense related to equity awards
totaling approximately $167,000 and $54,000, respectively. We have recorded these charges as general and administrative expense in our statement of operations.
Accounting Pronouncements
The Company considered the applicability and impact of recent accounting pronouncements and determined them to be either not applicable or expected to have minimal
impact on our consolidated balance sheets or statements of operations.
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk
Our primary exposure to market risk is interest expense sensitivity, which is affected by changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates. Historically, we have raised
capital through the issuance of equity securities.
We do not believe that our cash has significant risk of default or illiquidity. While we believe our cash does not contain excessive risk, we cannot provide absolute
assurance that in the future our investments will not be subject to adverse changes in market value. In addition, we maintain significant amounts of cash at one or more financial
institutions that are in excess of federally insured limits.
We do not participate in any foreign currency hedging activities and we do not have any other derivative financial instruments. We did not recognize any significant
exchange rate losses during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Inflation generally affects us by increasing our cost of labor and clinical trial costs. We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our results of operations
during the periods presented.
JOBS Act
On April 5, 2012, the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act, was enacted. Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an “emerging growth
company” can take advantage of the extended transition period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, for complying
with new or revised accounting standards. In other words, an “emerging growth company” can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would
otherwise apply to private companies.
We are in the process of evaluating the benefits of relying on other exemptions and reduced reporting requirements provided by the JOBS Act. Subject to certain
conditions set forth in the JOBS Act, as an “emerging growth company,” we intend to rely on certain of these exemptions, including without limitation, (i) providing an
auditor’s attestation report on our system of internal controls over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and (ii) complying with any
requirement that may be adopted by the PCAOB regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about the
audit and the financial statements, known as the auditor discussion and analysis. We will remain an “emerging growth company” until the earliest of (i) the last day of the fiscal
year in which we have total annual gross revenues of $1.07 billion or more; (ii) the last day of our fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the date of the completion of this
offering; (iii) the date on which we have issued more than $1 billion in nonconvertible debt during the previous three years; or (iv) the date on which we are deemed to be a
large accelerated filer under the rules of the SEC.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
Our balance sheet as of September 30, 2020 includes cash and cash equivalents of approximately $20,803,000. Our primary exposure to market risk is interest expense
sensitivity, which is affected by changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates. Historically, we have raised capital through the issuance of equity securities.
We do not believe that our cash has significant risk of default or illiquidity. While we believe our cash does not contain excessive risk, we cannot provide absolute
assurance that in the future our investments will not be subject to adverse changes in market value. In addition, we maintain significant amounts of cash at one or more financial
institutions that are in excess of federally insured limits.
We do not participate in any foreign currency hedging activities and we do not have any other derivative financial instruments.
Inflation generally affects us by increasing our cost of labor and clinical trial costs. We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our results of operations
during the periods presented.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (our principal executive officer and principal financial officer,
respectively), evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2020. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s
management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes
that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily
applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.
The closing of our initial public offering occurred on June 15, 2020. Consequently, as a newly reporting company under the Exchange Act, we are not required to
evaluate the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting until the end of the fiscal year after we file our first annual report on Form 10-K, which will occur on
December 31, 2021. However, in connection with the audit of our financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, prior to our initial public offering, we
observed material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting during those periods because we did not have a formal process for period end financial closing
and reporting, and also because we historically had insufficient resources to conduct an effective monitoring and oversight function independent from our operations. We
believe we are addressing these weaknesses through measures including implementation of additional internal control processes and procedures regarding the financial close
and reporting process, the recruitment of a full time Chief Financial Officer, and the allocation of additional personnel and resources to support our finance function, including,
but not limited to, enhanced scrutiny of accounting entries in the areas where we have observed material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting. Our
management intends to continue to monitor these weaknesses and evaluate whether the remedial actions taken by the Company have remediated these weaknesses when it
completes its first evaluation of the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.
Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2020, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as
of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined above, are effective.
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PART II – OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
From time to time in the future, we may become involved in litigation or other legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business. We are not currently party to
any legal proceedings, and we are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation against us that we believe could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating
results or financial condition. In the event we are subject to a legal proceeding, it could have a material adverse impact on us because of litigation costs and diversion of
management resources.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
As a Smaller Reporting Company we are exempted from the requirements of Item 1A.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities.
None.
Use of Proceeds.
On June 10, 2020, our registration statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-237714) was declared effective by the SEC in connection with our initial public
offering of common stock, pursuant to which we issued and sold, on June 15, 2020, 1,750,000 shares of common stock at a public offering price of $15.00 per share for total
gross proceeds of $26,250,000. On June 15, 2020 we received net proceeds of $23,419,721, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $1,968,750 and other
offering expenses of $861,529 borne by us.
As of September 30, 2020, we estimate that we have used approximately $3.1 million of the net proceeds from our IPO for advancing and developing our drug candidates
and RADR® platform, and for working capital and other general corporate purposes, including payment of director and officer liability insurance premium amounts of
approximately $1.8 million, approximately $557,000 of which have been expensed through September 30, 2020 and approximately $1.25 million of which are included as part
of prepaid expenses and other current assets on the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheet at September 30, 2020. Substantially all of the unused net proceeds from
the offering are held in interest bearing accounts. There has been no material change in our use of the net proceeds from the IPO as described in our final prospectus filed
pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4) under the Securities Act with the SEC on June 10, 2020. Other than payments in the ordinary course of business for compensation of officers and to
non-employee directors as compensation for board or board committee service, none of the net proceeds from our IPO used by us were direct or indirect payments to any of (i)
our directors or officers or their associates, (ii) persons owning 10 percent or more of our common stock, or (iii) our affiliates.
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
Item 5. Other Information.
None.
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Item 6. Exhibits.
Exhibit No.

Exhibit Description

10.1***

API Services Project Agreement, dated July 10, 2020, between Patheon API Services, Inc. and Lantern Pharma Inc.

31.1*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2*

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1**

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2**

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS*

XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

101.CAL*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

101.DEF*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

101.LAB*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

101.PRE*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

* Filed herewith
**Furnished with this report
***Certain confidential portions of this Exhibit were omitted by means of marking such portions with an asterisk (the Mark) because the identified confidential portions (i) are
not material and (ii) would be competitively harmful if publicly disclosed.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly
authorized.
Lantern Pharma Inc.,
A Delaware Corporation
Dated: October 29, 2020

By:/s/ Panna Sharma
Panna Sharma, Chief Executive Officer

Dated: October 29, 2020

By:/s/ David R. Margrave
David R. Margrave, Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 10.1

CERTAIN CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DOCUMENT, MARKED BY [***], HAS BEEN OMITTED
BECAUSE IT IS BOTH (i) NOT MATERIAL AND (ii) WOULD BE COMPETITIVELY HARMFUL IF PUBLICLY DISCLOSED.

[***]

ProjectConfidential

Lantern Pharma
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Patheon API Services, Inc. (“Patheon”)

Patheon API Services, Inc. (“Patheon”)

101 Technology Place
Florence,
SC 29501

101 Technology Place
Florence,
SC 29501

By: /s/ [***]

By: /s/ [***]

Name: [***]

Name: [***]

Title: Sr. Business Manager

Title: Executive Director

Date: July 10, 2020

Date: July 10, 2020

Lantern Pharma (“Client”)

Lantern Pharma (“Client”)

1920 Mckinney Ave 7th Floor
Dallas, Texas 75201
United States

1920 Mckinney Ave 7th Floor
Dallas, Texas 75201
United States

By:

/s/ David Margrave

By:

Name:

David Margrave

Name:

Title:

Chief Financial Officer

Title:

Date:

July 10, 2020

Date:

Effective Date: July 10, 2020

This Proposal when executed by Patheon and the Client will become a contract binding on the parties (the “Contract”). The Term of the Contract will be from the
Effective Date until completion by Patheon unless specified otherwise. This Proposal is a time-limited offer, which will remain open for acceptance by the Client
for 14 days from the issue date above. Following the expiry of this offer, Patheon may, at its sole option, waive the time limit or rescind this offer without further
notice to the Client.
Date of Confidentiality Agreement: March 11, 2019

[***]
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Peace of Mind

Unmatched Capabilities

Our global quality systems are proven by a regulatory track record
that’s second to none.

The most services across all phases, dosage forms and scales for drug
substances and products.

Experience

Trust

We work with companies in more than 70 countries.

We understand the unique needs of small companies. More than 75% of
our clients are emerging and mid-size biopharma organizations.

True Partners
Results
Our Business Management approach nurtures client relationship, and the
Voice of client program enables smooth issue resolution.

[***]
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We manufacture 117 products having received NDA approval from
2008-2017.
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Part A: Project Overview
Lantern is currently evaluating it’s API LP-300 in a Phase 2 clinical trial. They have requested that Patheon provide a proposal to transfer the previously validated
manufacturing process and analytical methods and produce [***] of final API under cGMP.
Technical Expertise
[***]
Reduced Timelines
[***]
Price
[***]

[***]
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Proposal Introduction
Patheon is an industry leading API Contract Development and Manufacturing Organisation (CDMO) with extensive experience of successfully undertaking
programs of work for many established and emerging pharmaceutical companies. The R&D and manufacturing facilities at Patheon’s global network of sites are
well- positioned to deliver on Lantern’s requirements for LP-300. The services covered by this proposal will be undertaken at the Florence facility in South
Carolina.
[***]
This FDA approved facility [***] is primarily engaged in API process development and manufacture for early clinical phases. [***]

[***]
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Part B: Project Activities
1. Technology Transfer and Process Evaluation
Goal
To reproduce the Client’s documented procedures on laboratory scale
Complete a non-GMP demonstration batch in a glass reactor.
To carry out process improvement activities to enable safe and robust manufacture on the desired scale
Deliverables
●
●
●

Weekly updates. Format as per Patheon standard.
Samples of any material produced
One final report detailing work carried out. Format as per Patheon standard.

Estimated Duration
●

Approximately 6 weeks after receipt of materials

Scope
Patheon will begin the project by undertaking laboratory activities to implement and evaluate the process provided by Lantern. This work will be carried out in the
chemical and analytical R&D laboratories.
As the transfer and evaluation of each stage of the process is completed, Patheon will carry out a non-GMP demonstration batch in a glass reactor.
Wherever possible, the conditions already established by Lantern will be implemented for scale-up. Sometimes the process supplied by a Client needs to be
improved or formally developed in order to be safe and robust for the requested scale-up.
Assumptions
●
●

Lantern technical personnel will be available as required to answer questions and generally support the implementation process.
The process provided by Lantern works reasonably similar as described

2. Analytical Methods Implementation and Associated Services
Goals
●
●
●
●

To transfer validated analytical methods from the Client or other third party to support the cGMP manufacture, release, and stability testing of
Product
To develop suitable methods to support testing of non-GMP development activities, and to validate the developed methods to support cGMP
manufacture release of cGMP batches
To perform verification of USP methods to support release and stability testing of the Product
To generate/procure intermediate and impurity markers for analytical method development

[***]
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Deliverables
●

Patheon format documents providing details of the final analytical methods developed

Estimated Duration
●

Approximately 6 weeks

Scope
Patheon will carry out analytical method transfer in our R&D laboratories. Once the methods have been qualified in-house, they will be transferred to the Quality
Control laboratory/personnel. Impurity/intermediate markers will be either produced in-house or procured if commercially available. [***]. The remaining markers
will be produced in-house except for [***].[***] Procurement of this material will be captured as a pass-through cost once a source is identified. All markers will
be tested and a Certificate of Testing will be issued.
Assumptions
Already fixed specifications for key raw materials, intermediates, and final product will be provided by the Client prior to commencement of work. If fixed
specifications are not available, timelines may be impacted and additional costs may be incurred and will be captured via the Change of Scope process.
All Client-stated available analytical methods, reference standards / marker substances will be provided by the Client to Patheon in good time prior to the start of
laboratory process familiarisation. If methods and standards are not provided or prove to be inadequate for the required purpose, timelines may be impacted and
additional costs may be incurred and will be captured via the Change of Scope process.
Patheon standard specifications and release testing will be applied to all non-contributory or standard raw materials. If Client-defined specifications are required,
timelines may be impacted and additional costs may be incurred and will be captured via the Change of Scope process.
Methods to be Transferred or Evaluated:
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
Other Analytical Services
Other analytical services may include the following. Modify/delete as appropriate, including addition of appropriate scope text.

[***]
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●
●
●
●
●

Impurity identification
Genotoxic assessments in conjunction with chemical development
Forced degradation study
Characterisation of reference standards
Specification generation

3. Manufacture of GMP Material
Goal
To manufacture approximately [***] of LP-300 under cGMP conditions
Deliverables
Target Quantity: Approximately [***] of LP-300 to the agreed upon specifications on a campaign basis. Lantern will receive all material generated from the
campaign (except retains, QC samples, etc)
Campaign Report. Format as per Patheon standard. A report will be issued four to six weeks after release, containing detailed process descriptions, commented
scale-up results, and information on key raw materials used for the scale-up. Key analytical data for intermediates and final product will be included.
GMP Documentation: Copies of all GMP Executed Batch Operating Procedures will be provided (incl. deviation/OOS reports, CoA and releases of all raw
materials, printouts of all IPC and release tests, cleaning records and temperature charts, and QA sign-off). Master Batch Operating Procedures (BOP) (equivalent to
Master Batch Records (MBR)) and Executed Batch Operating Procedures (equivalent to Executed Batch Records (EBR)) in local language (English).
QA-approved TSE/BSE certificate, certificate of compliance/conformity, release for intended application, and batch tree for the GMP batch.
Estimated Duration
●

Approximately [***] after receipt of materials

Scope
Patheon will transfer the manufacturing process established during the Technology Transfer and Process Evaluation phase of work to the production facility and
carry out a production campaign. The target quantity of this campaign will be [***]. This campaign shall be performed under cGMP conditions using water for
injection.
Assumptions
The final product will be tested against the following specifications (tentative; to be discussed in good faith):
[***]

[***]
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[***]

4. Stability Studies
Goal
To provide re-test data for LP-300.

[***]

ProjectConfidential

Lantern Pharma
Page 11 of 27

Deliverables
Data summaries will be provided to the Client at intermediate time points, and a stability summary report will be provided to the Client following completion of the
study.
Estimated Duration:
See table below
Scope
Patheon shall design a stability program to monitor:
●
●
●

Single batch from the GMP campaign under ICH conditions
Samples will be placed on storage concurrently and also tested concurrently at each test point.
Unless indicated in the stability protocol, the analytical data from each batch manufactured at Patheon will be used as initial time point (T=0) data.

The following storage conditions and time points are suggested for testing:
Storage
conditions

Number
of
batches

Freezer -20°C

Time points
0M

1M

2M

3M

6M

9M

12 M

18 M

24 M

36 M

X

M

M

48 M

60 M

R

Refrigerator 5°C

R

Long term 25°C/60% R.H.

1

R

X

X

X

X

M

Intermediate 30°C/65% R.H.

1

R

C

C

C

C

C

Accelerated 40°C/75% R.H.

1

R

X

X

X

R = release test data
C = contingency (storage; testing only in case of "significant change")
X = characteristics, assay & purity (HPLC), water, XRPD
M = characteristics, assay & purity (HPLC), water, XRPD, microbiology

Assumptions
The Client provided analytical method is stability indicating, confirmed via a forced degradation study. If no forced degradation study has been undertaken,
Patheon can arrange at additional cost under a change of scope

5. Raw Materials
●
●
●
●

The amounts of raw materials have been calculated on the current yields. A contingency of [***]% has been considered.
All raw materials, reagents, solvents, and auxiliary chemicals will be purchased by Patheon and assumed to be available within the required quality
and quantity and assumed lead time.
Commercial raw materials and starting materials will be released based on supplier CoA and identity test. Starting materials and key raw materials
will be additionally subjected to a use-test on lab scale.
Supplier of starting materials and raw materials will not be qualified by Patheon at this stage.

[***]
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●
●

●

Raw materials supplied by the client must be accompanied by the appropriate documentation (CoA, BSE/TSE or GMO certificate).
Import and forwarding costs for materials supplied by Clients will be passed through to the Client in line with the rules for reimbursable items as set
forth elsewhere in this document. Client or Client’s suppliers have to make sure that shipment paperwork shows realistic commercial value of the
material for the purpose of import.
Raw material pricing and lead times will be confirmed upon PO initiation.

6. Additional Services
The following items are formally considered out of the scope of this proposal, but could be offered as additional services:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

Further development and/or revalidation of analytical methods
Preparation of analytical reference standards
Assessment and/or analysis of potential genotoxic impurities (pGTI)
Long-term storage and costs for special packaging and transportation (if required); Florence standard bulk packaging assumed (double PE bag in
screw-lid HDPE drum)
Micronization/particle size reduction.
Certified translation of Master Batch Records and Executed Batch Records
Analysis of solid state properties

7. Project Management
Patheon will provide dedicated project management support to monitor the progress of the project against the agreed scope of work and timelines and will provide
Lantern with routine updates while there are ongoing billable activities in progress (excluding stability).
Upon award of this project, Patheon will form its project team. A Project Manager / Leader will be assigned to lead the team and be the primary client point of
contact from raw material procurement through process implementation, development and production, to shipment of the product. The Project Manager / Leader
typically has university degree (Ph.D. or BSc) qualifications in chemistry and significant prior experience with chemical process research and development and API
manufacturing
●
●
●
●

The core team typically consists of the Project Leader, API Business Manager and Chemical and Analytical R&D Scientists
Other members join the core team on an as-needed basis (e.g. the Client Business Development Executive, Process Safety Expert, Chemical
Engineer, Plant personnel, Quality Control, and Quality Assurance representatives)
Each team member reports into their own functional area but reports to the Project Manager / Leader for direction on each specific project
On a weekly basis, the Project Manager / Leader reports progress to the site management team who oversee performance on the wider portfolio of
site projects

The Project Manager / Leader will typically organise:

[***]
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●

●
●
●

Up to two, one-hour teleconference meetings per month. Other calls can be arranged as agreed between the parties and ad hoc calls accommodated
as needed. The frequency of meetings can be increased during peak activity times and the Project Manager / Leader is available via e- mail/phone
for discussions outside of scheduled meetings
Minutes of teleconferences and other meetings. These can generally be customised to meet Client or project requirements
A quarterly Patheon site face-to-face project review / update meeting
Delivery of project documentation. Documentation may include protocols, reports, master batch records or executed batch records, Certificates of
Analysis, BSE/TSE statements, summary data and analytical methods

The team will also be made up of Lantern personnel as agreed. A formal project kick-off (KO) meeting will be arranged prior to start of work to review the
provided technical information and re-confirm that the scope of the project remains as per this proposal.

Part C: Budget Summary
Price Quotation
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]

[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]

[***]
[***]
[***]

[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]

[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]

[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]

[***]
[***]
[***]

[***]
[***]
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Costs which cannot be quantified upfront e.g. analytical columns/reagents, external analytical testing, API packaging, shipping charges, custom fees, etc. that must
be purchased to run the project will be passed through at [***].
Payment and Delivery Terms
Amount
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]

Invoicing
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]

Deliverable
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]

Payment terms: [***]
[***]
Where applicable, please issue purchase orders, referencing Proposal Number [***], to the legal entity which will perform the services covered by this proposal:
Patheon API Services, Inc.
[***]
Please send the purchase order to the following addresses:
E-mail: [***]@thermofisher.com
E-Mail: [***]@patheon.com
E-Mail: [***]@patheon.com

[***]
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Shipping Options
Service Selection
(A) Courier Management
through Total
Transportation
Management (“TTM”)

Description
TTM is a service whereby Patheon will manage the couriers for all shipments and lanes, such selection being based on data
relating to courier performance across all shipments executed across the Patheon logistics network. The TTM fees will be based
on actual shipment characteristics and provides for the following services:
● Patheon will select the courier from a broad array of vendors managed and qualified through TTM’s quality management
system
● Patheon will coordinate the dispatch of the shipment with selected carrier
● Patheon will support the facilitation and coordination of necessary documentation as required by a receiving country,
including the generation and creation of such documents
● All shipments will be tracked and traced via the Global Logistics Help Desk from origin to final destination
● Patheon will assist with the resolution of shipment issues arising during transit and will escalate such issues to the Client
in accordance when necessary
The TTM fees will be quoted at the time of shipment in a TTM Freight Quote. Client will be responsible for any charges with
respect to services that were not contemplated in this quote including, but not limited to, charges for supplementary services
such as detention or demurrage. The Terms and Conditions specified in the applicable TTM Freight Quote issued at the time of
shipment will apply.
If you want to make use of this service, please contact:
[***]@thermofisher.com
Tel: North America [***]
Tel: Europe [***]

(B) Client Managed Shipping Client will select the couriers for all shipments and lanes and manage the shipment from origin to destination. All Client carriers
(Client Carrier)
will bill any and all freight charges and other costs associated with all Client shipments directly to Client using the Client’s
account number(s), and Client shall be solely responsible for the payment of all such charges and other costs.

[***]
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Part D: High Level Timeline
The timeline below and any estimated activity durations stated above are presented at this stage as a non- binding projected estimate of the milestone durations and
deliverables envisioned at the time of issuing this proposal. Patheon will use commercially reasonable efforts to adhere to timeline estimates shown below by
initiating the project as soon as a Lantern award by signature is received. All project timelines are however subject to resource and production asset availability at
the time the project is awarded. Once awarded, timelines will be reviewed and updated and an updated project plan provided.
[***]

[***]
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Part E: Standard Assumptions
Financial
All prices presented in the Price Quotation are NET of VAT.
All prices quoted are based on Patheon API Services Inc Tariff 2020.
Any analytical columns/reagents, external analytical testing, API packaging, shipping, and filter media that must be purchased will be charged additionally as pass
through costs.
Validity
This offer is valid until July 25, 2020.
Regulatory Management
To support the proposed project and eventual product filing, it is anticipated that Lantern will conduct an audit of Patheon’s site for Quality Assurance purposes. It
is assumed that the audit will require one Patheon QA team member for up to two days. If additional resources and/or time are required, these will be considered
changes of scope and priced as per the table below.
The regulatory support requirements of Clients vary from project to project. Patheon can provide support for activities such as:
●
●
●
●
●

Provision of documentation not typically provided as part of routine project activities
Regulatory body interactions associated with the regulatory applications or registration of Client products, such as Pre-Approval Inspections and
remote desk-top audits
Third party due diligence activities towards the potential sale / licensing of the Clients Product or company
Translation of documentation
General regulatory guidance or support for compilation of regulatory documentation

As the extent of regulatory support can be uncertain, hourly rates are normally defined for any required services as per the table below.
Regulatory Filing/Audit Assistance Fee

Level of Support
First audit (two days)
Additional Audit Time per Person
Miscellaneous Regulatory Suppor t

Fee

[***]
[***]
[***]

Out of Scope
The following activities are not within the normal scope of project activities and may incur additional costs if required:
●

Extended Client site visits, for example, to observe manufacturing activities first hand

[***]
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●

Additional raw material, intermediate, or final Product sampling that is outside the typical scope of the activities proposed

OEL
Unless otherwise stated above, Patheon assume that the OEL of the raw materials, intermediates and / or product have an OEL of >10 µg/m3. If the OEL is
confirmed as lower than >10 µg/m3 after project commencement, a further assessment of the handling requirements will be made which may impact timelines and
cost.
Fees include a single revision of documentation. Patheon will invoice the Client on issue of draft report.
For Analytical Out Of Specification (OOS) investigations, Patheon will conduct investigations according to Patheon’s Standard Operating Procedure and report
findings to the Client, the costs for which will be borne by the Client should the OOS be a result of the nature of the product rather than Patheon error in processing
or testing.
At the Client request, issued documents may need to be updated throughout the life of the project. The requirement for update could be based on, but is not limited
to, new stability data or new storage conditions. Documents requiring update may include Certificate of Analysis, specifications, test methods, reports or any other
document already issued by Patheon. Any additional costs for the update will be communicated to the Client via the Change of Scope process prior to initiating the
documentation change.
If the Client requests Patheon to provide a quarantine release (provisional batch release pending full release for shipment), the Client shall pay Patheon a fee of
[***] per-quarantine released batch (fee not included within the Price Quotation) to cover the additional administrative and QA requirements necessary to meet
such a request. Patheon makes no warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied of fitness for a particular purpose or warranty of merchantability in respect to
the quarantine release.
Deliveries
According to tax law, VAT or customs may have to be charged on the product price in case of delivery destination changes (from 3rd party country to Europe or the
other way). This is valid for inbound materials as well as outbound materials. The potential changes have to be evaluated case by case between the Client and
Patheon. Delivery destinations have to be communicated well in advance.
Storage
In the event that the Client does not take delivery of a product at the agreed time, Patheon have the option but not the obligation to store the product at its site or
through carefully selected external partners. In such a case, the product is deemed delivered by transferring it into the storage facility. Any storage will be subject
to a fee and certain terms and conditions which will be discussed and agreed at the time any storage need becomes known.
In addition, the Client and Patheon have to evaluate the customs situation if products are not delivered to the Client within six months after the invoice date. For
quantities produced in commercial buildings customs needs to be evaluated immediately upon invoicing.

[***]
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Product Release by Client
In the event it will be agreed that a product shall be released by the Client, the Client is obliged to carry out such release within the agreed time. Otherwise, Patheon
are entitled to release and ship the product.
Provided Goods
Provided goods have to fulfil specifications and other agreed quality criteria and they have to be fit for use.
Cancellation Terms
[***]
Intellectual Property
The term “Intellectual Property” includes, without limitation, rights in patents, patent applications, formulae, trade- marks, trade-mark applications, trade-names,
trade secrets, inventions, copyright, industrial designs, data and know-how.
[***]
[***]

[***]
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[***].
[***]
[***]

[***]
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Part F: Legal Terms and Conditions
Unless otherwise specified in this proposal, the Patheon API Services Inc. General Terms and Conditions of Sale (provided separately with this proposal) apply to
the transaction covered by this proposal.
In case of any discrepancies between this proposal and the General Terms and Conditions of Sale the conditions of this proposal shall prevail.
This proposal has been made to the best of Patheon’s knowledge. It is based upon the information available at the time of offering and the assumptions specified in
this proposal. Patheon are entitled to adequately amend this proposal, if determining factors have been subject to change.
This proposal is subject to Patheon Management approval.
1.

GENERAL

1.5.

1.1.

These General Terms and Conditions of Sale (“Conditions”) govern the
offering, sale and delivery of all goods and/or services (hereinafter jointly
referred to as the “Product(s)”) from or on behalf of Patheon API
Services,Inc., Florence, South Carolina (“PATHEON”), to client (“Client”)
and apply to all transactions between PATHEON and Client.

Any electronic communication between PATHEON and Client shall be
effective as originals and shall be considered to be a “writing” between the
parties. The electronic communication system used by PATHEON will
serve as sole proof for the content and the time of delivery and receipt of
such electronic communications.

2.

QUOTATIONS, ORDERS AND CONFIRMATION

2.1.

Unless stated otherwise by PATHEON, quotations made by PATHEON in
whatever form are not binding to PATHEON and merely constitute an
invitation to Client to place an order. All quotations issued by PATHEON
are revocable and subject to change without notice. Orders are not binding
until accepted by PATHEON in writing (“Confirmed Order”). PATHEON
shall be entitled to refuse an order without indicating the reasons.

1.2.

1.3.

1.4.

By contracting on the basis of the Conditions, Client agrees to the
applicability thereof in respect of all future dealings, even if this is not
explicitly stated.
PATHEON explicitly rejects the applicability of any general terms and
conditions of Client. Furthermore, the Conditions supersede any and all
terms of prior oral and written quotations, communications, agreements and
understandings of the parties in respect of the sale and delivery of the
Products and shall apply in preference to and supersede any and all terms
and conditions of any order placed by Client and any other terms and
conditions submitted by Client. Failure by PATHEON to object to the terms
and conditions set by Client shall in no event be construed as an acceptance
of any of the terms and conditions of Client.Neither PATHEON’s
commencement of performance nor PATHEON’s delivery shall be deemed
as acceptance of any of Client’s terms and conditions. If the Conditions
differ from any of the terms and conditions of Client, the Conditions and
any subsequent communication or conduct by or on behalf of PATHEON,
including, without limitation, confirmation of an order and delivery of
Products, constitute a counter-offer and not acceptance of such terms and
conditions submitted by Client. Any communication or conduct of Client
which confirms an agreement for the delivery of Products by PATHEON,
as well as acceptance by Client of any delivery of Products from
PATHEON shall constitute an unqualified acceptance by Client of the
Conditions.
PATHEON reserves the right to amend the Conditions at any time.
PATHEON will notify Client of any such amendments by sending the
amended Conditions to Client, posting them on the aforementioned Internet
sites or otherwise. The amended Conditions will take effect on the date of
notification of these amendments. The amended Conditions shall apply to
all transactions concluded between Client and PATHEON after the date of
such notification.

[***]
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2.2.

Price quotations based on estimated or projected quantities are subject to
increase in the event that actual quantities purchased during the specified
period are less than the estimated or projected quantities.

2.3.

Each delivery shall stand as a separate transaction and any failure to deliver
shall have no consequences for other deliveries.

3.

PRICES

3.1.

Prices and currencies of PATHEON’s Products are as set out in the
Confirmed Order. Unless otherwise agreed, PATHEON’s prices include
standard packaging but do not include Value Added Tax or any other
similar applicable taxes, duties, levies or charges in any jurisdiction levied
in relation to the Products or the delivery thereof (“Taxes”). The amount of
any Taxes levied in connection with the sale of Products to Client shall be
for Client’s account and shall either be added to each invoice or separately
invoiced by PATHEON to Client. If PATHEON grants a discount, this
discount only relates to the delivery specifically mentioned in the
Confirmed Order.

3.2.

Unless the prices have been indicated as firm by PATHEON in the
Confirmed Order, PATHEON is entitled to increase the price of the
Products still to be delivered if the cost price determining factors have been
subject to an increase. These factors include but are not limited to: raw and
auxiliary materials, energy, products obtained by PATHEON from third
parties, wages, salaries, social security contributions, governmental
charges, freight costs and insurance premiums. PATHEON shall notify
Client of such increase which shall not exceed the increase in the
determining cost factors.

4.

PAYMENT AND CLIENT’S CREDIT

4.1.

Unless stated otherwise in the Confirmed Order, payment shall be made on
the basis of net cash, to be received by PATHEON within [***] following
the date of PATHEON’s invoice. All payments shall be made without any
deduction on account of any Taxes and free of set-off or other
counterclaims except for set-offs with uncontested and/or enforceable
counterclaims.

4.2.

With regard to payment for the Products, time is of the essence. PATHEON
may, without prejudice to any other rights of PATHEON, charge interest
on any overdue payment at [***] per annum from the due date computed
on a daily basis until all outstanding amounts are paid in full. All costs and
expenses incurred by PATHEON with respect to the collection of overdue
payments (including, without limitation, reasonable attorney’s fees, expert
fees, court costs and other expenses of litigation) shall be for Client’s
account.

4.3.

Every payment by Client shall in the first place serve to pay the judicial and
extra- judicial costs and the accrued interest and shall afterwards be
deducted from the oldest outstanding claim regardless of any advice to the
contrary from Client.

4.4.

Any complaint with respect to the invoice must be notified to PATHEON in
writing within 20 (twenty) days after the date of invoice. Thereafter, Client
shall be deemed to have approved the invoice.
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5.

DELIVERY AND ACCEPTANCE

5.1.

Unless stated otherwise in the Confirmed Order, all deliveries of Products
shall be [***]. The term [***] shall have the meaning as defined in the
latest version of INCOTERMS published by the International Chamber of
Commerce in Paris, France, at the time of the Confirmed Order.

5.2.

Unless stated otherwise in the Confirmed Order, any times or dates for
delivery by PATHEON are estimates and shall not be of the essence.
PATHEON is entitled to deliver the Products as stated in the Confirmed
Order in parts and to invoice separately. Delay in delivery of any Products
shall not relieve Client of its obligation to accept delivery thereof, unless
Client cannot reasonably be expected to accept such late delivery. Client
shall be obliged to accept the Products and pay the rate specified in the
Confirmed Order for the quantity of Products delivered by PATHEON.

6.

CANCELLATION

6.1.

Client’s wrongful non-acceptance or rejection of Products or cancellation
of the Confirmed Order shall entitle PATHEON to recover from Client, in
addition to any other damages caused by such action:

7.3.

7.4.

EXAMINATION AND CONFORMITY TO SPECIFICATIONS

7.1.

On delivery and during the handling, use, commingling, alteration,
incorporation, processing, transportation, storage, importation and (re)sale
of the Products (the “Use”), Client shall examine the Products and satisfy
itself that the Products delivered meet the agreed specifications for the
Products as stated in the Confirmed Order or, in the absence of agreed
specifications, to the most recent specifications used by PATHEON at the
time of delivery of the Products (the “Specifications”).

7.2.

Complaints about the Products shall be made in writing and must reach
PATHEON not later than [***] from the date of delivery in respect of any
defect, default or shortage which would be apparent from a reasonable
inspection on delivery, and [***] from the date on which any other claim
(e.g. hidden defects) was or ought to have been apparent, but in no event
later than (i) [***] from the date of delivery of the Products or (ii) the
expiry of the Products’ shelf-life whichever is the earlier. Any Use of the
Products shall be deemed to be an unconditional acceptance of the Products
as of the date of delivery and a waiver of all claims in respect of the
Products.

[***]
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Defects in parts of the Products do not entitle Client to reject the entire
delivery of the Products, unless Client cannot reasonably be expected to
accept delivery of the remaining non defective parts of the Products.
Complaints, if any, do not affect Client’s obligation to pay as defined in
Article 4.

10.

LIMITED LIABILITY

10.1. PATHEON’s liability for any and all claims arising out of or in connection
with the Products and the Use thereof shall per occurrence be limited to
[***].
10.2. PATHEON shall under no circumstances be liable to Client or any other
person for any kind of special, incidental, indirect, consequential or
punitive damage or loss, cost or expense, including without limitation,
damage based upon lost goodwill, lost sales or profit, delay in delivery,
work stoppage, production failure, impairment of other goods or based on
any other cause, and whether arising out of or in connection with breach of
warranty, breach of contract, misrepresentation, negligence or otherwise.
11.

FORCE MAJEURE

11.1. Neither party shall be liable in any way for any damage, loss, cost or
expense arising out of or in connection with any delay, restriction,
interference or failure in performing any obligation towards the other party
caused by any circumstance beyond its reasonable control, including,
without limitation, acts of God, laws and regulations, administrative
measures, orders or decrees of any court, earthquake, flood, fire, explosion,
war, terrorism, riot, sabotage, accident, epidemic, strike, lockout, slowdown,
labour disturbances, difficulty in obtaining necessary labour or raw
materials, lack of or failure of transportation, breakdown of plant or
essential machinery, emergency repair or maintenance, breakdown or
shortage of utilities, delay in delivery or defects in goods supplied by
suppliers or subcontractors (“Force Majeure”).

8.

TRANSFER OF RISK AND PROPERTY

8.1.

The risk of the Products shall pass to Client according to the applicable
Incoterm (see Article 5.1).

8.2.

The title to the Products shall not pass to Client and full legal and beneficial
ownership of the Products shall remain with PATHEON unless and until
PATHEON has received payment in full for the Products, including costs
such as interest, charges, expenses etc.

8.3.

In the event of termination on the basis of Article 16, PATHEON shall,
without prejudice to any other rights of PATHEON, be entitled to require
immediate return of the Products, or to repossess the Products, for which it
may invoke a retention of title.

9.

LIMITED WARRANTY

11.2. Upon the occurrence of any event of Force Majeure, the party suffering
thereby shall promptly inform the other party by written notice thereof
specifying the cause of the event and how it will affect its performance of
its obligations under the Confirmed Order. In the event of any delay, the
obligation to deliver shall be suspended for a period equal to the time loss
by reason of Force Majeure. [***]

[***]

12.

[***]
7.

A determination of whether or not delivered Products conform to the
Specifications shall be done solely by PATHEON analysing the samples or
records retained by PATHEON and taken from the batches or production
runs in which the Products were produced in accordance with the methods
of analysis used by PATHEON. In case of a disaccord between the parties
concerning the quality of a batch or production run of Products supplied by
PATHEON to Client, PATHEON will submit representative samples of
said batch or run to an independent laboratory reasonably acceptable to
Client to have determined whether or not the batch or run in question has
met the Specifications. The results of such analysis shall be binding upon
the parties and the party unable to uphold its position shall bear the related
costs of the laboratory.

MODIFICATIONS AND INFORMATION; INDEMNITY

12.1. Unless the Specifications have been agreed to be firm for a certain period of
time or quantity of Products, PATHEON reserves the right to change or
modify the Specifications and/or manufacture of Products and to substitute
materials used in the production and/or manufacture of Products from time
to time without notice. Client acknowledges that data in PATHEON’s
catalogues, product data sheets and other descriptive publications
distributed or published on its websites may accordingly be varied from
time to time without notice.
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12.2. Client must utilise and solely rely on its own expertise, know-how and
judgment in relation to the Products and Client’s Use thereof. Consultation
provided by PATHEON shall not give rise to any additional obligations.
Client shall indemnify and hold PATHEON harmless from and against any
and all damages, losses, costs, expenses, claims, demands and liabilities
(including without limitation product liabilities) arising out of or in
connection with the Products and Client’s Use thereof.
13.

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS

14.1. PATHEON and Client are independent contractors, and the relationship
created hereby shall not be deemed to be that of principal and agent.
15.

NON-ASSIGNMENT AND CHANGE OF CONTROL

15.1. Neither party may assign any of the rights or obligations under the
Confirmed Order without the prior written consent of the other party,
except that either party may assign such rights and obligations to any of its
affiliates or to a third party acquiring all or a substantial part of its assets or
business relating to the Products.

WAIVER

17.1. Failure by PATHEON to enforce at any time any provision of the
Conditions shall not be construed as a waiver of PATHEON’s right to act
or to enforce any such term or condition and PATHEON’s rights shall not
be affected by any delay, failure or omission to enforce any such provision.

18.

24.1. The original version of the Conditions is made in the English language. In
the event of any inconsistency or contradiction between the English version
and any translation thereof, the English version shall prevail.
Version: August, 2018

18.1. In the event that any provision of the Conditions shall be held to be invalid
or unenforceable, the same shall not affect in any respect whatsoever, the
validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions between the parties
and shall be severed therefrom. The pertaining provisions held to be invalid
or unenforceable shall be reformed to meet the legal and economic intent of
the original provisions to the maximum extent permitted by law.
19.

LIMITATION OF ACTION

19.1. Unless otherwise stated hereunder, no action by Client shall be brought
unless Client first provides written notice to PATHEON of any claim
alleged to exist against PATHEON within [***] after the event complained
of first becomes known to Client and an action is commenced by Client
within [***] after such notice.
20.

GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE

20.1. The parties’ rights and obligations arising out of or in connection with the
Confirmed Order and/or the Conditions shall be governed, construed,
interpreted and enforced according to the laws of South Carolina, without
regard to the conflict of laws provisions thereof. The United Nations
Convention on Contracts for the International Sale of Goods dated 11 April
1980 (CISG) shall not apply.

16.

20.2. The parties’ rights and obligations shall be binding upon and inure to the
benefit of the parties and their respective successors, permitted assigns,
directors, officers, employees, agents and legal representatives.
Termination of one or more of the parties’ rights and obligations, for
whatever reason, shall not affect those provisions of the Conditions which
are intended to remain in effect after such termination.

[***]

LANGUAGE

SEVERABILITY AND CONVERSION

15.2. PATHEON shall have the right to terminate the Confirmed Order with
immediate effect if at any time during the term of the Confirmed Order a
person or group of persons, who are unrelated to the persons controlling
Client as of the date of the Confirmed Order, acquires control, through
ownership of voting securities or otherwise, over Client. Client must notify
PATHEON of such acquisition within [***] thereof. PATHEON may
exercise its right to terminate the Confirmed Order by giving Client written
notice of such exercise within [***] after the date of receipt of such notice.
SUSPENSION AND TERMINATION

23.

No waiver by PATHEON of any breach of Client’s obligations shall
constitute a waiver of any other prior or subsequent breach.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND STANDARDS

13.1. Client acknowledges that the Use of the Products may be subject to
requirements or limitations under any law, statute ordinance, regulation,
code or standard (“Laws and Standards”). Client shall be exclusively
responsible for (i) ensuring compliance with all Laws and Standards
associated with its intended Use of the Products; and (ii) obtaining all
necessary approvals, permits or clearances for such Use.
14.

17.

21.

22.

SURVIVAL OF RIGHTS

HEADINGS

22.1. The headings contained in the Conditions are included for mere
convenience of reference and shall not affect the latter’s construction or
interpretation.

[***]
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Project Team Profiles
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]

[***]
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Pharma Services - Global Site Network

Ahmedabad, India

•

Allentown, PA

•

Basel, Switzerland

•

Beijing, China

•

Bend, OR

•

Bogota, Colombia

•

Bourgoin, FR

•

Brisbane, AU

•

•

Buenos Aires, Argentina

•

Cincinnati, OH

•

•

Ferentino, IT

•

•

•

•

Florence, SC – West

•

Florence, SC – East

•

Greenville, SC

•

Greenville, NC
Groningen, NL

•

High Point, NC

•

•

Horsham, UK

•

Indianapolis, IN

•

Lima, Peru
Linz, AT

•
•

Manatí, PR

•

Mexico City, Mexico

•

Milton Park, UK

•

Monza, IT

•

•

Moscow, Russia

•

Mt. Prospect, IL

•

Pretoria, South Africa

•

Princeton, NJ
Regensburg, DE

•
•

Santiago, Chile

•

São Paulo, Brazil

•

Seoul, Korea

•

Singapore
St. Louis, MO

•
•

Suzhou, China

•

Swindon, UK
Tilburg, NL

•
•

Tokyo, Japan
Toronto, ON

•

Weil am Rhein, Germany
Whitby, ON

[***]
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Your truly integrated pharma services partner
Built on a proven foundation of quality systems and commitment to continuous improvement, Thermo Fisher Pharma
Services has the capabilities and expertise to help you achieve success at every milestone.

Create or source your ingredient

Design the ideal formulation

Scale to your next milestone

Develop clinical supply chain strategy

Accelerate clinical research

Develop successful commercial launch

Route Scouting

Quick to Clinic

Pre-clinical

Clinical Supply Optimization

Primary & Secondary Packaging

95%+ Right
First Time
Performance

Cell Line Development

Complex Formulations

Early Phase Development

Compliance Management
& Risk Mitigation

Labeling

75% of all
Dosage Forms

Analytical Methods

Solubility Enhancement

Clinical Trial Material Manufacture

Comparator Sourcing

Storage & Distribution

Oral Solid Dose

Process Development

Analytical Methods

Late Phase Trials

Label Translation & Planning

Global Network

Sterile
Injectables

Commercial Manufacturing

Process Development

Commercialization

Cold Chain Material Management

Flexible
Business Models

Oral Solid & Sterile
Development

Logistics & Transportation

185 technology
More than 250
large & small
APIs developed
or manufactured

More than
1,000
molecules
developed 40+
dosage forms

transfers in 2017:
44 Drug
substance 3
Development

11,000+
unique clinical
packaging lots in
2017

More than 400,000
clinical shipments
completed in 2017

117 NDAs
2008–2017

138 Commercial
+1 919 226 3200 • thermofisher.com/patheon • doingbusiness@patheon.com
© 2018 Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc. All rights reserved.
Published 6/18 PATH0712
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Panna Sharma, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Lantern Pharma Inc.

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiary, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: October 29, 2020
/s/ Panna Sharma
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, David R. Margrave, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Lantern Pharma Inc.

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiary, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: October 29, 2020
/s/ David R. Margrave
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Lantern Pharma Inc. (the “Company”)
hereby certifies, to his knowledge, that:
(1) the accompanying Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2020 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements
of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: October 29, 2020
/s/ Panna Sharma
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of Lantern Pharma Inc. (the “Company”)
hereby certifies, to his knowledge, that:
(1) the accompanying Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2020 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements
of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: October 29, 2020
/s/ David R. Margrave
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

